# Boltzmann hierarchies for self-interacting warm dark matter scenarios

# Rafael Yunis<sup>a,b</sup> Carlos R. Argüelles<sup>c</sup> Diana López Nacir<sup>d</sup>

<sup>a</sup>ICRANet, Piazza della Repubblica 10, I-65122 Pescara, Italy

<sup>b</sup>Physics Department, La Sapienza University of Rome, P.le Aldo Moro 5, I–00185 Rome, Italy

<sup>c</sup>Facultad de Ciencias Astronómicas y Geofísicas, Universidad Nacional de La Plata, Paseo del Bosque, B1900FWA LaPlata, Argentina

<sup>d</sup>Departamento de Física Juan José Giambiagi, FCEyN UBA and IFIBA CONICET-UBA, Facultad de Ciencias Exactas y Naturales, Ciudad Universitaria, Pabellón I, 1428 Buenos Aires, Argentina

E-mail: yunis121@gmail.com

**Abstract.** We provide a general framework for self-interacting warm dark matter (WDM) in cosmological perturbations, by deriving from first principles a Boltzmann hierarchy which retains certain independence from a particular interaction Lagrangian. We consider elastic interactions among the massive particles, and obtain a hierarchy which is more general than the ones usually obtained for non-relativistic (as for cold DM) or for ultra-relativistic (as for neutrinos) approximations. The more general momentum-dependent kernel integrals in the Boltzmann collision terms, are explicitly calculated for different field-mediator models, including examples of a scalar field or a massive vector field. As an application, we study the evolution of the interaction rate per particle under the relaxation time approximation, and assess when a given self-interaction is relevant in comparison with the Hubble expansion rate. Our framework aims to be a useful tool to evaluate DM self-interaction effects in the linear power spectrum, with the consequent imprints on non-linear scales of structure formation.

# Contents

1	Introduction		2
	1.1	Cosmological Perturbation Theory	5
	1.2	The Relativistic Boltzmann Equation	6
2	The Boltzmann Equation for SI-WDM: Interaction Terms		7
	2.1	Scattering Amplitude	9
3	Solutions to the Collision Terms		
	3.1 The First Order Collision Integral		
	3.2 The Zero Order Collision Integral		
	3.3	Kernel Functions for Different Mediator Models	13
		3.3.1 Constant Amplitude	14
		3.3.2 Massive Scalar Mediator	15
		3.3.3 Massive Vector Field	16
4	Bol	tzmann Hierarchy	18
5	Relaxation Time Approximation		
	5.1	Application to Self-Interaction Decoupling	22
	5.2	An Approximate Form for the Collision Integrals	23
6	Sun	nmary and Outlook	27
A	First Order Collision Integral Terms		
	A.1	Calculation of $\mathcal{C}_3[f]$	35
	A.2	Calculation of $\mathcal{C}_2[f]$	43
	A.3	Calculation of $\mathcal{C}_1[f]$	43
в	The Zero Order Collision Term		
	B.1	Calculation of $\mathcal{D}_1[f]$	49
С	The	e DM-DM collision term for a Massless Mediator	51
D	Nu	merical Integration of $\mathcal{D}_2[f_0^{eq}]$	55
	D.1	Parallelism with the Calculation of Abundances of Stable Species	56

#### 1 Introduction

In the standard cosmological paradigm, ACDM, Dark Matter (DM) has long been a necessary ingredient in the Big Bang model of the universe and in understanding its evolution since the early stages. While the evidence for its existence is implied by its gravitational effects in astrophysical, galactic and cosmological structures; understanding the nature and composition of this species is still an elusive subject [1-4]. Several attempts have been made to explain this phenomenon by macroscopic objects, yet a microscopic origin of the DM phenomenon by a new particle species remains as the most plausible hypothesis [3-7]. On the early stages of DM research, active neutrinos appeared as promising candidates for this particle species [8, 9]. However, neutrinos are "hot" Dark Matter (HDM) with a free-streaming length which erases structures up to large scales [10], while numerical simulations have shown that such "topdown" structure formation is incompatible with clustering constraints [11]. Cosmological data favored the adoption of the  $\Lambda CDM$  paradigm [12]: in the standard scenario, DM is assumed to be produced in a thermal distribution and modeled as collisionless after it decouples from the other species. The effective decoupling is assumed to occur at a temperature smaller than the DM mass so that the distribution corresponds to non-relativistic particles. The traditional candidates are weakly interacting massive particles (WIMPS) which were in thermal equilibrium with the species in the cosmic plasma via weak interactions [13]. In this scenario, galaxies form in a "bottom-up" fashion: small scales (favored by the small velocity dispersion of CDM particles) become non-linear and collapse first, and their merging and accretion leads to formation of structures on larger scales. On these scales, data of the structure of the universe is consistent with CDM driving the formation of galaxies and clusters, however, no viable fundamental particle within the standard model (SM) fulfills these properties [3, 14].

The standing  $\Lambda$ CDM paradigm, is in remarkable agreement with large scale cosmological observations (see for instance [15–18]) and it is also compatible with an increasing amount of observed galaxy properties (e.g. [19] and [20]). However, it has been noted that in this paradigm it is challenging to describe some observables on smaller scales, such as the "missing" dark matter sub-halos or the so called core-cusp discrepancy [21]. High resolution cosmological simulations of average-sized halos in  $\Lambda$ CDM predicts [22] an overproduction of small-scale structures, significantly larger that the observed number of small satellite galaxies in the Local Group [23, 24]. Moreover, N-body simulations of CDM-only predict a singular density profile for virialized halos [25, 26], while observational evidence points to dwarf spheroidal galaxies (dSphs) having smooth cores in their central regions [27, 28]. Some other tensions have been raised between CDM-only predictions and observations (see for example a review in [21]).

Among the earliest approaches to alleviate/resolve those conflicts is to consider two DM components, one "cold" and one "hot" (C+HDM) [29, 30]. More recent models feature only *warm* dark matter particles (WDM) [31], meaning that they are semi-relativistic during

the earliest stages of structure formation with non-negligible free-streaming particle length. WDM models feature an intermediate velocity dispersion between HDM and CDM that results in a suppression of structures at small scales due to free-streaming [32]. If this free streaming scale today is smaller than the size of galaxy clusters, it can provide a solution to the missing satellites problem [27, 33–35]. However, thermally produced WDM suffers from the so called *catch-22* problem when studied within N-body simulations [36, 37]. Such WDM-only simulations either show unrealistic core-sizes for particle masses above the keV range, or they acquire the right halo sizes though for sub-keV masses, in direct conflict with phase-space constraints [38]. It is important to remark that this may be due to shortcomings on the simulations themselves, and could be alleviated by including baryon feedback [39]. A particular, promising realization of these WDM models has been the minimal extension of the SM by intermediate-mass sterile neutrinos in the  $\mathcal{O}(\text{keV})$  range known as  $\nu$ MSM (see, for example, [40] for a review).

From the astrophysical point of view, fermion masses in this range and up to  $\mathcal{O}(0.1 \text{ MeV})$  seem to also be favored by recent elementary particle based DM halo studies [35, 41], where self-gravitating equilibrium systems were shown to be both in excellent agreement with rotation curve observations while thermodynamically stable (coarse-grained entropy maxima) within cosmological timescales [42]. From current cosmological data it is possible to constrain these models analizing observable properties, such as from Lyman- $\alpha$  forest and sub-structure observations in the Local Group. Comprehensive reviews of the constraints for sterile neutrinos can be found in e.g. [43, 44].

Another compelling alternative to colissionless CDM, apart from WDM, is to consider interactions in CDM. This consideration relaxes the assumption that CDM interacts only gravitationally after early decoupling, and includes interactions either between DM and SM particles or additional hidden particles, or among DM particles themselves. These later models are denominated as "self-interacting" DM models (SIDM) (see [45, 46] for reviews). Born out of N-body simulations [47], SIDM halos could explain the cores of galaxies when a 2  $\leftrightarrow$  2 interaction is assumed, with cross-sections constrained to be roughly of  $\sigma/m \sim 0.5 - 10 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g}$  [45, 48, 49]. However, certain tensions have been raised about the upper limits in the self-interaction cross section, based on a more refined analysis of the Bullet Cluster [50]. This has motivated the consideration of velocity dependent cross sections (i.e.  $\sigma$  as a function of the rms velocity of DM particles) which are sensitive to the baryonic environment [51].

Most SIDM studies assume a cosmological evolution identical to CDM on large scales, and that the linear matter power spectrum remains unchanged. However, many models include other ingredients that can produce small scale damping [52–55]. A good example of the latter are the DM + Dark Radiation (DR) models considered by the ETHOS collaboration [52], who created a framework for structure formation that encompasses several microphysical interaction models via an effective theory. Interestingly, interacting scenarios combining DM+DR interactions with SIDM effects, are able to generate a truncation in the power spectrum while producing shallower inner density profiles [56], alleviating the core-cusp and missing satellite problems altogether.

So far, we have mentioned both WDM and SIDM as possible solutions to the tensions between  $\Lambda$ CDM and observations on small scales, and discussed about their possible realizations. Here, we take both approaches into consideration. Previous studies have shown that the inclusion of self-interactions among WDM particles in quasi-relaxed DM halos can alleviate some constraints, as shown in [57, 58] for the case of self-interacting right handed neutrinos. Also in [58] it is discussed the possibility of novel sterile neutrino production mechanisms through heavy mediators, while further effects of including a scalar self-interaction in the  $\nu$ MSM active-sterile mixing production scenarios, were considered in [59].

We focus here on the description and treatment of the linear theory of cosmological perturbations for self-interacting WDM (SI-WDM) scenarios, and provide explicit expressions for the Boltzmann hierarchies for different self-interacting sterile neutrino DM scenarios, with its corresponding beyond SM field mediators. Efforts on calculating the evolution of these perturbations either in traditional CDM or WDM scenarios (see [60] for a summary), have been outlined either via semi-analytic methods such as in [61, 62], or via numerical integration of the coupled Einstein-Boltzmann system [60, 63–65]. For the latter, freely available numerical routines such as CAMB [64] or CLASS [65] exist as general purpose tools, or more specialized ones as the (CDM-based) ETHOS code [52] for interacting DM+DR models. An earlier work [66] pioneered the inclusion of SI-WDM on numerical Einstein-Boltzmann solvers (though under important simplifications, see also [67]), finding an enhanced suppression of power in small scales when compared to WDM only evolution.

The objective of this work is to contribute to the findings of these early realizations of SI-WDM structure formation. To this aim we provide here a systematic and accurate treatment of collisions in WDM models extending [66], and at the same time retaining certain independence from a particular Lagrangian self-interacting model. Our procedure is motivated by the tools provided by the Boltzmann hierarchies for interactive (active) neutrinos [68–70]. They are used and generalized to perform an accurate framework for the collision term in the linearized Boltzmann equation for the SI-WDM species, and derive an explicit and analytical expression for the equations of motion. Motivated by [52], we do not commit to a particular form of the scattering amplitude, but provide a general parametrization in terms of model dependent coefficients that naturally includes several interaction mediators such as a massive scalar (as seen in [59, 69, 70]) or a vector field (as proposed from first principles in [57, 58]). The general results here presented are aimed (but not limited) to further evaluate the SI-WDM effects in the matter power spectrum, CMB anisotropies, halo models and production mechanisms, and may also be useful beyond the study of DM such as the study of active neutrino physics and their anomalies [70]. In order to set our notation and conventions, in what remains of this section we briefly introduce the cosmological perturbation theory and Einstein-Boltzmann equations.

#### 1.1 Cosmological Perturbation Theory

In cosmology, the evolution of perturbations to the isotropic homogeneous background, which are originated through a primordial power spectrum and will eventually collapse to form the myriad of observed structures today, is handled through the Einstein equations. There, the universal spacetime metric is split into a background Friedmann-Robertson-Walker (FRW) metric and a small perturbation to said metric. The Einstein equations govern the evolution of this perturbation with the perturbed energy-momentum tensors acting as sources. Several choices exist in order to describe these metric perturbations: a "gauge freedom" in the equations. Here, we will use the so called synchronous gauge, where the line element is defined as

$$ds^{2} = a^{2}(\tau) \left\{ -d\tau^{2} + (\delta_{ij} + h_{ij})dx^{i}dx^{j} \right\} , \qquad (1.1)$$

where the scalar mode of the perturbation  $h_{ij}$  can be described in terms of two fields  $h(\vec{k}, \tau)$ and  $\eta(\vec{k}, \tau)$  as

$$h_{ij}(\vec{x},\tau) = \int d^3k e^{i\vec{k}.\vec{x}} \left\{ \hat{k}_i \hat{k}_j h(\vec{k},\tau) + \left( \hat{k}_i \hat{k}_j - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{ij} \right) 6\eta(\vec{k},\tau) \right\} , \quad \vec{k} = k\hat{k} .$$
(1.2)

A discussion on gauge freedom and gauge modes in the context of perturbations to the FRW metric can be found in [60, 71, 72]. Here, we quote the final form of the Einstein equations in the synchronous gauge, in Fourier space:

$$k^{2}\eta - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\dot{a}}{a}\dot{h} = 4\pi Ga^{2}\delta T^{0}_{0} ,$$

$$k^{2}\dot{\eta} = 4\pi Ga^{2}(\overline{\rho} + \overline{P})\theta ,$$

$$\ddot{h} + 2\frac{\dot{a}}{a}\dot{h} - 2k^{2}\eta = -8\pi Ga^{2}\delta T^{i}_{i} ,$$

$$\ddot{h} + 6\ddot{\eta} + 2\frac{\dot{a}}{a}\left(\dot{h} + 6\dot{\eta}\right) - 2k^{2}\eta = -24\pi Ga^{2}(\overline{\rho} + \overline{P})\sigma ,$$
(1.3)

where

$$(\overline{\rho} + \overline{P})\theta \equiv ik^{j}\delta T^{0}_{\ j} \quad , \quad (\overline{\rho} + \overline{P})\sigma \equiv -\left(\hat{k}_{i}\hat{k}_{j} - \frac{1}{3}\delta_{ij}\right)\Sigma^{i}_{\ j} \ , \tag{1.4}$$

with  $\Sigma$  the traceless component of  $T_j^i$ ,  $\overline{\rho}$  and  $\overline{P}$  the background density and pressure respectively; and the metric perturbation functions h,  $\eta$  in Synchronous gauge are defined as in eq. (1.2).

#### 1.2 The Relativistic Boltzmann Equation

In order to close the system of equations in (1.3) without the assumption of a perfect fluid, the perturbations in a given energy component can be obtained in a more general way by making use of the Boltzmann equation, which governs the evolution of the phase space distribution function (DF). As a relativistic invariant, this function is used to describe the number of particles of a given fluid in a differential unit of volume:

$$dN = f(x^{i}, P_{i}, \tau) dx^{1} dx^{2} dx^{3} dP_{1} dP_{2} dP_{3} , \qquad (1.5)$$

where  $x^i$  are the spatial coordinates and  $P^i$  refers to the spatial components of the conjugate momentum, defined as  $P \equiv (E/a, a[\delta_{ij} + h_{ij}/2]p^j)$  in terms of the 4-momentum  $p^j$  measured by an observer comoving with the FLRW coordinates. In practice, it is convenient to describe the perturbations to this function as a function of comoving proper momentum  $q_i \equiv a(\tau)p_i$ (with  $p_i$  measured in a comoving frame) as:

$$f(x^{i}, P_{j}, \tau) = f_{0}(q, \tau) + F(x^{i}, q, n_{j}, \tau) , \qquad (1.6)$$

where  $\vec{q} = q\hat{n}$  is the comoving momentum, and  $n_j$  its j direction component and  $f_0$  is the background DF. The phase space density evolves according to the relativistic Boltzmann equation. In terms of these new variables, this is:

$$P^{\alpha}\frac{\partial f}{\partial x^{\alpha}} - \Gamma^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta}P^{\alpha}P^{\beta}\frac{\partial f}{\partial P^{\gamma}} = \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial \tau}\right)_{col},\tag{1.7}$$

where  $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma}$  is the general relativistic metric connection and  $h_{ij}$  the metric perturbation in the synchronous gauge (see [60] for details). The right hand side of the equation involves the terms due to collisions (referred here as the *collision term*), whose form depends on the type of particle interactions involved. In the case of a general-relativistic formulation of perturbations, the derivatives with respect to the coordinates  $df/dx^i$  and df/dq depend explicitly on the way one chooses to express the perturbed metric: the so called "gauge choice". We refer the reader to [71] for a comprehensive explanation on perturbed FRW metrics and the different gauge choices, and [60] for a "canonical" application to most of the cosmological fluids in more than one gauge. In k-space, the equation that dictates the evolution of the perturbation to the phase space distribution F can be obtained from (1.7) and (1.6), to first order in F as:

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial \tau} + i \frac{qk}{\epsilon} (\hat{k}.\hat{n})F + \frac{d f_0}{d \ln q} \left[ \dot{\eta} - \frac{\dot{h} + 6\dot{\eta}}{2} (\hat{k}.\hat{n})^2 \right] = \left( \frac{\partial f}{\partial \tau} \right)_{col}^{(1)} , \qquad (1.8)$$

with  $\epsilon = aE$  the comoving energy and h,  $\eta$  the potential functions describing the scalar mode of  $h_{ij}$  defined as in eq. (1.2). This equation is to be solved together with the zero order Boltzmann equation [68]

$$\frac{\partial f_0}{\partial \tau} = \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial \tau}\right)_{col}^{(0)} , \qquad (1.9)$$

and the equations for the other relevant species together with Einstein equations, to give a closed system. The equations for the metric perturbations are obtained from the Einstein equations with the perturbations of the total energy-momentum tensor (built as the sum of the contributions for all relevant species acting as a source term.

#### 2 The Boltzmann Equation for SI-WDM: Interaction Terms

Here, we focus on the right-hand-side (RHS) of equation (1.8). This term describes the interaction between the different particle species, and the eventual self-interactions between the same species. Some species can be considered as collisionless during most of their lifetime such as CDM [60]: for some approaches on interactions and collision terms see e.g. [52, 54, 73, 74]. For most other species (such as photons or baryons) the collision term plays a major role in their evolution.

There has been recent progress in dealing with the collision term in cosmological simulations from first principles. See for example [52, 54] for a streamlining on the treatment of the term in CDM models, and [73, 74] for an approximation of the collision term in terms of a Fokker-Planck operator. The focus of the following section is to extend the works of Oldengott et. al. [68, 69], where the collision term has been uniquely calculated for ultrarelativistic species (active neutrinos) and scalar field-mediators. Our extension is to the case of SI-WDM, including a more general scattering amplitude for species that are neither ultrarelativistic nor fully non-relativistic at decoupling, with emphasis in self-interacting sterile neutrinos.

The RHS of equation (1.8) counts the number of collisions a particle species i undergoes in a time interval dt per unit phase space. For a CP invariant two body scattering process  $i + j \leftrightarrow m + n$ , the full expression for the collision term is:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial f_i}{\partial t} \end{pmatrix}_{coll} (\vec{k}, \vec{q}, \tau) = \frac{g_j g_m g_n}{2E_q} \int \frac{d^3 l}{(2\pi)^3 2E_l} \frac{d^3 q'}{(2\pi)^3 2E_{q'}} \frac{d^3 l'}{(2\pi)^3 2E_{l'}} \delta_D^{(4)} (\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{l} - \mathbf{q'} - \mathbf{l'}) \\ \times (2\pi)^4 |\mathcal{M}|^2_{ij\leftrightarrow mn} \{ f_m(\vec{k}, \vec{q'}, \tau) f_n(\vec{k}, \vec{l'}, \tau) [1 \pm f_i(\vec{k}, \vec{q}, \tau)] [1 \pm f_j(\vec{k}, \vec{l}, \tau)] \\ - f_i(\vec{k}, \vec{q}, \tau) f_j(\vec{k}, \vec{l}, \tau) [1 \pm f_m(\vec{k}, \vec{q'}, \tau)] [1 \pm f_n(\vec{k}, \vec{l'}, \tau)] \} ,$$

where g is the number of internal degrees of freedom of each species,  $|\mathcal{M}|^2$  is the squared Feynmann amplitude for the process, and  $\delta_D^{(4)}$  is the Dirac delta functional over the energymomentum 4-vectors labeled with boldface. The collision term as measured in the time-interval dt is related to the expression in (1.8) as  $(\partial f_i/\partial \tau)_{col} = a(\partial f_i/\partial t)_{col}$  [68]

The zero-order integral, which dictates the evolution of the background phase space distribution  $f_0$  is simplified, under the same assumptions, as:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial f_i}{\partial t} \end{pmatrix}_{ii \leftrightarrow ii}^{(0)} (|\vec{q}|, \tau) = \frac{g_i^3}{2E_q (2\pi)^5} \int \frac{d^3l}{2E_l} \frac{d^3q'}{2E_{q'}} \frac{d^3l'}{2E_{l'}} \delta_D(q+l-q'-l') |\mathcal{M}|^2 \\ \times \left[ f_0(l', \tau) f_0(q', \tau) - f_0(l, \tau) f_0(q, \tau) \right] \\ \equiv \mathcal{D}_1[f] + \mathcal{D}_2[f] .$$

$$(2.2)$$

The first order collision integral, which involves the first order perturbation  $F(\vec{k}, \vec{q}, \tau)$  can be simplified in the case of interactions  $ii \leftrightarrow ii$  to:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial f_i}{\partial t} \end{pmatrix}_{ii \leftrightarrow ii}^{(1)} (\vec{k}, \vec{q}, \tau) = \frac{g_i^3}{2E_q (2\pi)^5} \int \frac{d^3 l}{2E_l} \frac{d^3 q'}{2E_{q'}} \frac{d^3 l'}{2E_{l'}} \delta_D^{(4)} (\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{l} - \mathbf{q'} - \mathbf{l'}) |\mathcal{M}|^2 \times \left[ 2f_0(q', \tau) F(\vec{k}, \vec{l'}, \tau) - f_0(q, \tau) F(\vec{k}, \vec{l}, \tau) - f_0(l, \tau) F(\vec{k}, \vec{q}, \tau) \right] \equiv \mathcal{C}_1[f] + \mathcal{C}_2[f] + \mathcal{C}_3[f] ,$$

$$(2.3)$$

where we have made use of the symmetry of  $|\mathcal{M}|^2$  under the exchange  $q' \leftrightarrow l'$ , and under the assumption that Bose enhancement and Pauli blocking are negligible as is customary done for DM candidates on such early epochs [75]. In the case of a cosmological component that only interacts with itself, this would provide a source term in the RHS of equation (1.8), the equation of motion for the phase space perturbation F.

Here, we maintain a general form for  $f_0$  and provide the necessary collision term to obtain its evolution via the zero-order Boltzmann equation (1.9). Concerning applications of the results, a few comments are in order. In most interacting DM studies it is common that either an equilibrium form (ultra relativistic, maxwellian or Juttner, see for example [76, 77]) or a "frozen-out" form for  $f_0$  can be assumed for most of the dynamical evolution of perturbations [66, 68]. Alternatively it turns out to be enough to compute the evolution of a pseudo-temperature of the DM component as described for instance in [52, 53]. An equilibrium distribution would implicitly assume either a thermal decoupling history of DM or a period of strong coupling in self-interactions <sup>1</sup>

In [68] both the first (2.1) and zero order (1.9) collision integrals have been considered for the case of active neutrinos with a scalar interaction. In that case, a specific interaction model has been evaluated and the particle mass of the neutrinos has been neglected, given that they remain ultrarelativistic until late times. Here, we maintain certain level of generality in the choice of interaction amplitudes, and explicitly include the mass of the particle. This generalization of the collision term can be useful in certain WDM models that include selfinteractions between dark particles. In particular, for those models where the ultra relativistic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For beyond SM neutrinos (assuming relativistic decoupling of Self-Interactions), a typical example is to set  $f_0 \propto \exp(-q/T_{\text{dec},0})$ , where q is the comoving momentum and  $T_{\text{dec},0}$  is the SI decoupling temperature today. In [68] an extra normalization factor is included to provide a correction accounting for the effects of Fermi statistics in the number density.

to non relativistic transition takes place in the radiation dominated era, and neither the massless or very massive DM particle limits properly account for the WDM features [78]. These topics are more thoroughly discussed in the following sections.

Besides the above mentioned assumptions for the collision terms in (2.2) and (2.3), we focus here on the case where the only relevant source of interaction is the self-interaction among the DM particles themselves (i.e. DM-DM collisions). However, if other interactions are relevant our results can be generalized by adding the corresponding collision term to the RHS of (1.8). Moreover, the evolution of the mediator fields should in principle be studied self-consistently. Nevertheless, in certain situations one can neglect the backreaction of those fields. For instance, in the case of very massive mediator particles this assumption is justified as the population of the mediators should be Boltzmann-suppressed at the times of interest. This is generically not true, however, in the case of a massless mediator: the contribution of the mediator population to the energy-momentum tensor may not be negligible and the interactions between these two components should be properly accounted for. Here we do not address the dynamics of the mediator fields and restrict our analysis to the effects of the self-interactions of WDM. We focus below on the massive mediator cases, and relegate to appendix C the computation for massless mediators.

#### 2.1 Scattering Amplitude

Further assumptions enter the expression we will use for the spin-averaged scattering amplitude  $|\mathcal{M}|$ . We will assume that this amplitude can be expressed as a second degree polynomial in the Maldestam variables s, t as defined in (A.20):

$$|\mathcal{M}|^2 \equiv m_{(2,0)}s^2 + m_{(1,1)}st + m_{(0,2)}t^2 + m_{(1,0)}s + m_{(0,1)}t + m_{(0,0)}.$$
(2.4)

This parametrization leaves the  $m_{(i,j)}$  coefficients free as model dependent constants and allows us to recover a few relevant cases for our study, such as the ones to be considered in 3.3. This assumption, together with the approaches taken in describing both the collision terms and the Boltzmann equations, allow us to complement previous works [52] aiming to describe self-interacting species in cosmology. It is in this way that we maintain some model independence, being able to describe a wide array of (elastic) interaction cross sections either in an exact or approximate way.

This parametrization encompasses most tree level interactions due to massive mediators with  $m_{\text{med}} \gg m$ , where m is the DM mass and  $m_{\text{med}}$  is the one of the mediator. Notably, this includes both of the examples studied in [68] as well as many more. Particularly, in the limit  $m \to 0$ , this parametrises the tree level self-interactions due to a massless scalar mediator, which turns out to be a constant scattering amplitude (as detailed in section 3.3.1). However, in a general case with  $m \neq 0$  this parametrization does *not* account for massless mediators (of interest for self interacting CDM models, see [45]). This is discussed further in appendix C, where we consider the DM-DM collision term for a massless scalar mediator which cannot be modelled as (2.4).

In order to explicitly perform the collision term integrations, it is necessary to recast this expression into their respective powers of t, which reads (with  $B_t$  and  $C_t$  trivial functions of s),

$$|\mathcal{M}|^2 = A_t t^2 + B_t t + C_t, \tag{2.5}$$

as relevant in the case of the  $C_3$ ,  $C_2$  integrals as demonstrated in appendix A. A similar expression works in the case of the  $C_1$  integrals, this time involving u (having used the relation  $s^2 + t^2 + u^2 = 4m^2$ , with  $A_u$ ,  $B_u$  and  $C_u$  simple functions of t as shown in appendix A):

$$|\mathcal{M}|^2 = A_u u^2 + B_u u + C_u. \tag{2.6}$$

#### 3 Solutions to the Collision Terms

#### 3.1 The First Order Collision Integral

In this section we write down the final results of the first order collision term in (2.3), and refer to the reader to appendix A for the detailed derivation. In terms of integrations in energies and Mandelstam variables,  $C_3$  can be expressed as:

$$\mathcal{C}_3 = -\frac{F(\vec{q}, \vec{k}, \tau)g_i^3}{32(2\pi)^3 E_q q} \int dE_l ds f_0(E_l, \tau)\chi(s) , \qquad (3.1)$$

with  $\chi(s)$  defined as

$$\chi(s) = \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{s}} \frac{1}{3} A_t (s - 4m^2)^2 + \frac{1}{2} B_t (s - 4m^2) + C_t , \qquad (3.2)$$

and  $\{A_t, B_t, C_t\}$  given in eq. (2.5). Here and in what follows we use the convention that all integrals run over the full range of the respective variables unless it is explicitly specified.

The calculations for the  $C_2$  term are identical to the ones developed in A.1 for  $C_3$ . The only difference is that the roles of the background and perturbed DF are reversed. This can easily be seen from the definition of the term in (2.3). So, the final expression for the integral is

$$C_2 = -\frac{f_0(E_q, \tau)g_i^3}{32(2\pi)^3 E_q q} \int dE_l ds F(\vec{l}, \vec{k}, \tau)\chi(s), \qquad (3.3)$$

where we have implicitly used that  $\vec{l}$  is a function of only  $(E_l, s)$ . Given  $\vec{q}$ , this is straightforward to check from the definitions of s,  $E_l$ . In the case of  $C_1$ , the calculation diverges greatly from the one of  $C_3$ . In this case, both the background DF and the perturbation are integrated over, and to perform the integration it is necessary to know  $f_0(E_q, \tau)$ . This integral can be expressed in terms of time-dependent collision kernel  $K(E_q, E_{q'}, t, \tau)$  as

$$C_1 = \frac{g_i^3}{16(2\pi)^3 E_q q} \int dE_{q'} dt F(E_{q'}, t) K(E_q, E_{q'}, t, \tau) , \qquad (3.4)$$

where the kernel is given by:

$$\begin{split} K(E_q, E_{q'}, t, \tau) &= \left\{ \frac{A_u}{8|\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|^5} \left\{ \left\langle f_0 \right\rangle_2 \left[ 4t \left( 3(E_q + E_{q'})^2 t - \left((E_q - E_{q'})^2 - t\right)(-4m^2 + t)\right) \right] \right. \\ &+ \left\langle f_0 \right\rangle_1 \left[ 4t(4(E_q - E_{q'})^2(E_q + 3E_{q'})m^2 \\ &- 4(E_q(E_q - E_{q'})(E_q + 2E_{q'}) + (E_q + 3E_{q'})m^2)t + (E_q + 3E_{q'})t^2) \right] \\ &+ \left\langle f_0 \right\rangle_0 \left[ \left( 48(E_q - E_{q'})^4m^4 - 16(E_q - E_{q'})^2m^2(2E_q^2 - 3E_qE_{q'} + 6m^2)t \\ &+ 8(E_q^2(E_q - E_{q'})^2 + (7E_q^2 - 12E_qE_{q'} + 3E_{q'}^2)m^2 + 6m^4)t^2 \\ &- 4(2E_q^2 - 3E_qE_{q'} + 6m^2)t^3 + 3t^4) \right] \right\} \\ &+ \frac{B_u}{2|\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|^3} \left\{ \left\langle f_0 \right\rangle_1 \left[ t(E_q + E_{q'}) \right] + \left\langle f_0 \right\rangle_0 \left[ 2(E_q - E_{q'})^2m^2 + 2E_q(-E_q + E_{q'})t - 4m^2t + t^2 \right] \right\} \\ &+ \frac{C_u}{|\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|} \left\langle f_0 \right\rangle_0 \right\} \end{split}$$

put in terms of moments of the background distribution function  $f_0$ , that take the form

$$\langle f_0 \rangle_n (E_q, E_{q'}, t, \tau) = \int_{R_2}^{\infty} dE_{l'} f_0(E_{l'}, \tau) E_{l'}^n ,$$
 (3.5)

which are functions of  $(E_q, E_{q'}, t)$  only through  $R_2$ , defined as

$$R_{1,2} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ E_q - E_{q'} \pm |\vec{q} - \vec{q'}| \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{t}} \right\} .$$

This kernel is the most complex part of the collision term, mainly due to its explicit dependence on time through the momenta of the background DF. However, once the scattering amplitude  $|\mathcal{M}|^2$  is specified, it should be numerically feasible to evaluate the integrals.

#### 3.2 The Zero Order Collision Integral

The treatment of the term  $\mathcal{D}_2[f]$  mimics exactly the one for  $\mathcal{C}_3[f]$  but with the simplification  $F(\vec{q}, \vec{k}, \tau) \to f_0(E_q)$ . Thus, this term can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{D}_2 = -\frac{f_0(E_q)g_i^3}{32(2\pi)^3 E_q q} \int dE_l ds f_0(E_l,\tau)\chi(s) .$$
(3.6)

The term  $\mathcal{D}_1[f]$  is much more complicated. The key to solve this integral is to define a method to recast an integration in an angular variable by an integral in energy, as described in appendix B.1. As shown in such appendix, this procedure leads to a collision integral that can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{D}_1 = \frac{g_i^3}{16E_q q(2\pi)^3} \sum_{i=1}^4 \int_{\mathcal{I}_i} dE_{q'} dE_{l'} f_0(E_{q'}, \tau) f_0(E_{l'}, \tau) k_i(E_q, E_{q'}, E_{l'}, \tau) , \qquad (3.7)$$

in terms of 4 integrals of kernel functions: the integration limits  $\mathcal{I}_i$  are defined in (B.7) schematically as

$$\int_{m}^{E_{q}} dE_{q'} \left[ \int_{E_{q}-E_{q'}+m}^{E_{q}} dE_{l'} + \int_{E_{q}}^{\infty} dE_{l'} \right] + \int_{E_{q}}^{\infty} dE_{q'} \left[ \int_{m}^{E_{q}} dE_{l'} + \int_{E_{q}}^{\infty} dE_{l'} \right] \equiv \sum_{i=1}^{4} \int_{\mathcal{I}_{i}} , \qquad (3.8)$$

and the kernels  $k_i(E_q, E_{q'}, E_{l'}, \tau)$  are given by

$$k_{i}(E_{q}, E_{q'}, E_{l'}, \tau) = \int dt \ \kappa(E_{q}, E_{q'}, E_{l'}, t, \tau) \quad , \quad i = 2, 4$$

$$k_{i}(E_{q}, E_{q'}, E_{l'}, \tau) = \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} dt \ \kappa(E_{q}, E_{q'}, E_{l'}, t, \tau) \quad , \quad i = 1, 3$$
(3.9)

with

$$\begin{split} \kappa(E_q, E_{q'}, E_{l'}, t, \tau) &= \left\{ \frac{A_u}{8|\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|^5} \left\{ E_{l'}^2 \left[ 4t \left( 3(E_q + E_{q'})^2 t - ((E_q - E_{q'})^2 - t)(-4m^2 + t) \right) \right] \right. \\ &+ E_{l'} \left[ 4t (4(E_q - E_{q'})^2(E_q + 3E_{q'})m^2 - 4(E_q(E_q - E_{q'})(E_q + 2E_{q'}) + (E_q + 3E_{q'})m^2)t + (E_q + 3E_{q'})t^2) \right] \right. \\ &+ \left. \left[ (48(E_q - E_{q'})^4m^4 - 16(E_q - E_{q'})^2m^2(2E_q^2 - 3E_qE_{q'} + 6m^2)t + 8(E_q^2(E_q - E_{q'})^2 + (7E_q^2 - 12E_qE_{q'} + 3E_{q'}^2)m^2 + 6m^4)t^2 - 4(2E_q^2 - 3E_qE_{q'} + 6m^2)t^3 + 3t^4) \right] \right\} \\ &+ \frac{B_u}{2|\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|^3} \left\{ E_{l'} \left[ t(E_q + E_{q'}) \right] + \left[ 2(E_q - E_{q'})^2m^2 + 2E_q(-E_q + E_{q'})t - 4m^2t + t^2 \right] \right\} \\ &+ \frac{C_u}{|\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|} \right\}, \end{split}$$

$$(3.10)$$

and  $t_{1,2}$  defined as the two solutions to the following equation:

$$P(t_{1,2}) = |\vec{q} - \vec{q'}| \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{t_{1,2}}} = 2E_{l'} - E_q + E_{q'} .$$

Thus, we have arrived at a somewhat general expression for the collision integrals which depends on the scattering amplitude only through the coefficients  $A_{t,u}$ ,  $B_{t,u}$  and  $C_{t,u}$  defined in equations (2.5) and (2.6). After this, in order to obtain a Boltzmann hierarchy that can be in principle solved numerically one can follow a procedure analogous to the one described in [68]. We perform this procedure in section 4, while in next we provide some examples of the kernel functions obtained from different models of the self-interaction.

Collision terms at the level of the zero-order distribution function are common in other applications of DM such as in  $\Lambda$ CDM (thermal production and decoupling) [79]. The tools developed in this section, together with an accurate treatment of inelastic collision terms could help to discern the effects of self-interactions in early DM production, though remains as an interesting avenue for future research.

#### 3.3 Kernel Functions for Different Mediator Models

In this section, we calculate the different kernel functions involved in the collision integrals for a small subset of self-interaction models. We need to compute the coefficients  $[A_t, B_t, C_t]$ in eq. (2.5) for the  $C_3[f]$  integral and  $[A_u, B_u, C_u]$  given in eq. (2.6) for the  $C_1[f]$  and  $\mathcal{D}_1[f]$ integrals.

Motivated by the possibility that the DM constituents are sterile neutrinos, we consider the following three cases: the first two evaluated by [68] which are interactions mediated by scalar particles; and the case of a heavy vector field proposed in [46].

For the first case, the interaction Lagrangian can be written as (further information about the scattering processes can be found in [68]):

$$\mathcal{L}_{int} = \mathfrak{g}\overline{\nu}_R \nu_R \phi \,, \tag{3.11}$$

where  $\mathfrak{g}$  is the scalar coupling constant,  $\phi$  is the scalar field and  $\nu_R$  is the DM field modelled as a right handed neutrino. In the case studied in [68] the massless scalar limit reduces to a constant amplitude, however, this does not happen generally. We refer to [80] for an expression of the scattering amplitude for scalar mediators of arbitrary mass. In this study, as an example, we only consider a *constant amplitude* case, reminding that only in the limit of massless DM it corresponds to a zero mass scalar mediator (see appendix C). Our main focus here is a *massive scalar* mediator, meaning that  $m_{\text{med}} = m_{\phi} \gg E$  (with *E* denoting the mean energy of the colliding DM particles).

The vectorial model of [46] also assumes DM is given by right handed neutrinos but with an interaction Lagrangian given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{int} = -g_V V_\mu \overline{\nu}_R \gamma^\mu \nu_R , \qquad (3.12)$$

with  $g_V$  acting as a coupling constant and  $V_{\mu}$ , the massive vector field. In the cases considered here, and under the assumption  $g_V \lesssim 1$  all mediators fall into the massive case  $m_{\text{med}} = m_V \gg E$  (see (3.26)).

The authors of ref. [46] have proposed this effective interaction-Lagrangian to derive a self-interacting system of self-gravitating sterile-neutrinos on galaxy scales. When applied to the Milky Way, it was there shown how a  $\mathcal{O}(10^1)$  keV-fermionic DM concentration at the center of the DM halo (i.e. forming a degenerate condensate), could work as an alternative to the super massive black hole (SMBH) in SgrA<sup>\*</sup>. At the same time such fermionic halo model provides a plausible (and alternative) explanation to the small scale structure observables.

It is important to note that, while motivated by the study of sterile neutrinos, the framework and the interaction models here presented, remain general and can be used in other applications such as (massive) active neutrino cosmology.

#### 3.3.1 Constant Amplitude

We start with a simple toy model: a constant scattering amplitude  $|\mathcal{M}|^2$ . We adopt the notation used in [68] for the massless scalar mediator. This constant amplitude can be expressed as

$$\left|\mathcal{M}_{\nu\nu\leftrightarrow\nu\nu}\right|_{0}^{2} = 6\mathfrak{g}^{4} , \qquad (3.13)$$

where  $\mathfrak{g}$  is the scalar coupling constant in the ultra-relativistic case. Being constant in the involved momenta, the coefficients of the expansion in Mandelstam variables are, simply:

$$\begin{cases}
A_t = B_t = A_u = B_u = 0 \\
C_u = C_t = C_0 \equiv 6\mathfrak{g}^4
\end{cases}$$
(3.14)

For the  $\chi(s)$  function appearing in the final form for  $\mathcal{C}_3$  and  $\mathcal{C}_2$ , we obtain

$$\chi(s) = C_0 \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{s}} .$$
(3.15)

For the time dependent kernel function  $K(E_q, E_{q'}, t, \tau)$  in  $\mathcal{C}_1$ , we find

$$K(E_q, E_{q'}, t, \tau) = \frac{C_0 \langle f_0 \rangle_0}{\sqrt{(E_q - E_{q'})^2 - t}} , \qquad (3.16)$$

with  $\langle f_0 \rangle_0$  as defined in eq. (3.5) and

$$\begin{cases} k_i(E_q, E_{q'}, E_{l'}) = 2C_0 \left( \sqrt{(E_q - E_{q'})^2 - t_1} - \sqrt{(E_q - E_{q'})^2 - t_2} \right) &, \quad i = 1, 3 \\ k_i(E_q, E_{q'}) = 4C_0 \min(q, q') &, \quad i = 2, 4 \end{cases}$$
(3.17)

with  $t_{1,2}$  defined as the roots of the equation  $P(t) = 2E_{l'} - E_q + E_{q'}$  with  $t_2 > t_1$ , as used in section 3.2 for the kernel functions to calculate the background DF in  $\mathcal{D}_1$ . When comparing these expressions with the ones used in [68], both collision integrals coincide in the limit  $m \to 0$ , showing explicitly that our more general expression for the collision term reduces to this known limiting case.

#### 3.3.2 Massive Scalar Mediator

We follow here the considerations of [68] for the case of a scalar mediator which is considerable more massive than the mean scattering energy. In this case the population of scalar particles would be Boltzmann suppressed, so there would be no need to track the evolution of their population. Moreover, in this scenario, the neutrinos would be initially in thermal equilibrium (as noted in [68] and references therein). In this case, the interaction amplitude reduces to:

$$\left|\mathcal{M}_{\nu\nu\leftrightarrow\nu\nu}\right|_{m}^{2} = \frac{\mathfrak{g}^{4}}{2m_{\Phi}^{4}} \left(s^{2} + t^{2} + u^{2}\right) , \qquad (3.18)$$

with  $m_{\phi}$  denoting the scalar mediator mass. Here, by using the identity  $s + t + u = 4m^2$ we can either replace u or s in the scattering amplitude to obtain the two sets of scattering coefficients [A, B, C]:

$$\begin{cases}
A_t = 2\frac{\mathfrak{g}^4}{2m_{\Phi}^4} \equiv 2C_m \\
B_t = 2C_m(s - 4m^2) \\
C_t = 2C_m(s^2 - s4m^2 + 8m^4)
\end{cases}, \tag{3.19}$$

$$\begin{cases}
A_u = 2C_m \\
B_u = 2C_m(t - 4m^2) \\
C_u = 2C_m(t^2 - t4m^2 + 8m^4)
\end{cases}$$
(3.20)

Making use of these coefficients, the kernel functions  $\chi$ ,  $k_i$  and K as defined in section 3.2 and 3.1 respectively, read as follows:

$$\chi(s) = \frac{1}{3}C_m \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{s}} \left(256m^4 - 128m^2s + 19s^2\right) , \qquad (3.21)$$

$$K(E_q, E_l, s, \tau) = \frac{C_m}{4((E_l - E_q)^2 - s)^{5/2}} \left\{ \langle f_0 \rangle_2 4s \left[ (4(E_l - E_q)^2 m^2 + 2(E_l^2 + 4E_l E_q + E_q^2 - 2m^2)s + s^2 \right] + \langle f_0 \rangle_1 4s (E_q - E_l) \left[ -4(E_l - E_q)^2 m^2 - 2(E_l^2 + 4E_l E_q + E_q^2 - 2m^2)s - s^2 \right] + \langle f_0 \rangle_0 \left[ 48(E_l - E_q)^4 m^4 - 16(E_l - E_q)^2 m^2 (E_l^2 - 3E_l E_q + E_q^2 + 6m^2)s + 8((E_l - E_q)^2 (E_l^2 - E_l E_q + E_q^2) + (5E_l^2 - 12E_l E_q + 5E_q^2)m^2 + 6m^4)s^2 - 4(3E_l^2 - 7E_l E_q + 3E_q^2 + 6m^2)s^3 + 7s^4 \right] \right\},$$

$$(3.22)$$

$$k_{i}(E_{q}, E_{q'}, E_{l'}) = \int_{\mathcal{I}_{i}} dt \frac{C_{m}}{4((E_{q'} - E_{q})^{2} - t)^{5/2}} \left\{ E_{l'}^{2} 4t \left[ (4(E_{q'} - E_{q})^{2}m^{2} + 2(E_{q'}^{2} + 4E_{q'}E_{q} + E_{q}^{2} - 2m^{2})t + t^{2} \right] \\ + E_{l'} 4t(E_{q} - E_{q'}) \left[ -4(E_{q'} - E_{q})^{2}m^{2} - 2(E_{q'}^{2} + 4E_{q'}E_{q} + E_{q}^{2} - 2m^{2})t - t^{2} \right] \\ + \left[ 48(E_{q'} - E_{q})^{4}m^{4} - 16(E_{q'} - E_{q})^{2}m^{2}(E_{q'}^{2} - 3E_{q'}E_{q} + E_{q}^{2} + 6m^{2})t \\ + 8((E_{q'} - E_{q})^{2}(E_{q'}^{2} - E_{q'}E_{q} + E_{q}^{2}) + (5E_{q'}^{2} - 12E_{q'}E_{q} + 5E_{q}^{2})m^{2} + 6m^{4})t^{2} \\ - 4(3E_{q'}^{2} - 7E_{q'}E_{q} + 3E_{q}^{2} + 6m^{2})t^{3} + 7t^{4} \right] \right\},$$

$$(3.23)$$

where the integration regions in the t variable for these last integrals are in the range  $[t_{\cos\theta=-1}, t_{\cos\theta=1}]$  for i = 2, 4; and  $[t_1, t_2]$  where  $t_{1,2}$  are the solutions of  $P(t) = 2E_{l'} - E_q + E_{q'}$  for i = 1, 3 (see appendix B.1 for details). Here the background DF kernels  $k_i$  have analytical (though complicated) expressions in  $(E_q, E_{q'}, E_{l'}, t_{1,2})$ , which are not very illuminating to write down.

#### 3.3.3 Massive Vector Field

In [46] the authors calculate the 4-fermion self-scattering amplitude for the right handed sterile neutrinos with the interaction (3.12), and reach the following result:

$$|\mathcal{M}_{\nu\nu\leftrightarrow\nu\nu}|_{V}^{2} = \left(\frac{g_{V}}{m_{V}}\right)^{4} \frac{1}{\cos^{4}\theta_{W}'} \left[44(\mathbf{ql})^{2} - (\mathbf{qq'})^{2} - (\mathbf{ql'})^{2}\right] , \qquad (3.24)$$

where  $m_V$  is the mediator mass,  $\theta'_W$  the (dark sector) Weinberg angle and  $\mathbf{pq} \equiv p^{\mu}q_{\mu}$  on a 4-vector notation. By making use of the following Mandelstam variables properties

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{ql} = s - 2m^2 \\ \mathbf{qq'} = 2m^2 - t \\ \mathbf{ql'} = 2m^2 - u \end{cases}$$
(3.25)

the equation (3.24) can be put in terms of (s, t, u). As for massive scalars, the scattering coefficients can be calculated using  $s + t + u = 4m^2$ :

$$\begin{cases}
A_t = -2\left(\frac{g_V}{m_V}\right)^4 \frac{1}{\cos^4 \theta'_W} \equiv -2C_V \\
B_t = C_V(8m^2 - 2s) , \\
C_t = C_V(168m^4 - 172m^2s + 43s^2)
\end{cases}$$
(3.26)

$$\begin{cases}
A_u = 43C_V \\
B_u = C_V(88t - 172m^2) \\
C_u = C_V(168m^4 - 172m^2t + 43t^2)
\end{cases}$$
(3.27)

and the expressions for the kernels are:

$$\chi(s) = \frac{4}{3}C_V \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{s}} (74m^2 - 29s)(m^2 - s) , \qquad (3.28)$$

$$K(E_q, E_l, s, \tau) = \frac{C_V}{8((E_l - E_q)^2 - s)^{5/2}} \left\{ 172 \langle f_0 \rangle_2 s \left[ 4(E_l - E_q)^2 m^2 + 2(E_l^2 + 4E_l E_q + E_q^2 - 2m^2)s + s^2 \right] + 4 \langle f_0 \rangle_1 s \left[ 172(E_l - E_q)^3 m^2 + 4(-E_l + E_q)(-44E_l^2 - 86E_l E_q + E_q^2 + 43m^2)s - (47E_l + 133E_q)s^2 \right] + \langle f_0 \rangle_0 \left[ 656(E_l - E_q)^4 m^4 + 16(E_l - E_q)^2 m^2 (2E_l^2 + 39E_l E_q + 2E_q^2 - 82m^2)s - 8((E_l - E_q)^2 (-43E_l^2 - 2E_l E_q + 2E_q^2) + (-35E_l^2 + 156E_l E_q - 35E_q^2)m^2 - 82m^4)s^2 + 4(-84E_l^2 + 121E_l E_q + 6E_q^2 - 78m^2)s^3 + 121s^4 \right] \right\},$$

$$(3.29)$$

$$\begin{aligned} k_{i}(E_{q}, E_{q'}, E_{l'}) &= \int_{\mathcal{I}_{i}} dt \frac{C_{V}}{8((E_{q'} - E_{q})^{2} - t)^{5/2}} \left\{ \\ 172E_{l'}^{2}t \left[ 4(E_{q'} - E_{q})^{2}m^{2} + 2(E_{q'}^{2} + 4E_{q'}E_{q} + E_{q}^{2} - 2m^{2})t + t^{2} \right] \\ &+ 4E_{l'}t \left[ 172(E_{q'} - E_{q})^{3}m^{2} + 4(-E_{q'} + E_{q})(-44E_{q'}^{2} - 86E_{q'}E_{q} + E_{q}^{2} + 43m^{2})t - (47E_{q'} + 133E_{q})t^{2} \right] \\ &+ \left[ 656(E_{q'} - E_{q})^{4}m^{4} + 16(E_{q'} - E_{q})^{2}m^{2}(2E_{q'}^{2} + 39E_{q'}E_{q} + 2E_{q}^{2} - 82m^{2})t \\ &- 8((E_{q'} - E_{q})^{2}(-43E_{q'}^{2} - 2E_{q'}E_{q} + 2E_{q}^{2}) + (-35E_{q'}^{2} + 156E_{q'}E_{q} - 35E_{q}^{2})m^{2} - 82m^{4})t^{2} \\ &+ 4(-84E_{q'}^{2} + 121E_{q'}E_{q} + 6E_{q}^{2} - 78m^{2})t^{3} + 121t^{4} \right] \right\}, \end{aligned}$$

where, again, the integration regions in the t variable for these last integrals are in the range  $[t_{\cos\theta=-1}, t_{\cos\theta=1}]$  for i = 2, 4 and  $[t_1, t_2]$ , where  $t_{1,2}$  are the solutions of  $P(t) = 2E_{l'} - E_q + E_{q'}$  for i = 1, 3. These last kernel functions for the background DF have analytical forms but are not illuminating, just as in the massive scalar case (see appendix A for details).

#### 4 Boltzmann Hierarchy

Once having obtained the expressions for the collision integral kernels, it is a standard practice to perform a Legendre expansion in (1.8) in order to construct a so called Boltzmann hierarchy of equations, which is independent of the angle between  $\vec{k}$  and  $\vec{q}$ . In order to calculate the time dependent kernels above, the full solution to the background DF  $f_0(E_q, \tau)$  must be obtained. If we assume that, in the time scales of interest, the collision term is only due to self-scattering, then the evolution of  $f_0$  is governed by:

$$\frac{\partial f_0}{\partial \tau}(E_q,\tau) = a \left( \mathcal{D}_1[f_0] + \mathcal{D}_2[f_0] \right) = \\
= G_0 a \left\{ -f_0(E_q) \int dE_l f_0(E_l) \kappa^{(0)}(E_q,E_l) + 2 \sum_{j=1}^4 \int_{\mathcal{I}_j} dE_{q'} dE_{l'} f_0(E_{q'}) f_0(E_{l'}) \mathcal{K}_j^{(0)}(E_q,E_{q'},E_{l'}) \right\},$$
(4.1)

where  $G_0 = 1/[4(2\pi)^3]$  and

$$\kappa^{(0)}(E_q, E_l) = \frac{1}{E_q q} \int ds \chi(s) ,$$
(4.2)

$$\mathcal{K}_{j}^{(0)}(E_{q}, E_{q'}, E_{l'}) = \frac{1}{E_{qq}} k_{j}(E_{q}, E_{q'}, E_{l'}) .$$
(4.3)

Here, we will assume that the initial conditions for  $f_0$  are set beforehand at some early time and that its subsequent evolution is only governed by self-interactions as said before. This ansatz, notably, excludes the production mechanism that should give rise to the initial population of these particles: we follow [66] and implicitly assume that the mechanism for production is not significanly affected by the self-interaction mechanism. Once the evolution of this distribution is known, the various moments  $\langle f_0 \rangle_i$  defined in eq. (A.68) can be calculated, thus allowing to obtain the time dependent kernels K.

As the coefficients in the LHS of the Boltzmann eq. (1.8) are only functions of  $|\vec{q}|, |\vec{k}|$ and  $\cos \epsilon \equiv \hat{k}.\hat{q}$ , it is assumed that the RHS also depends only on these parameters. Thus, in order to express the relevant equations of both sides in a Legendre series we first write

$$F(|k|, |q|, \cos \epsilon) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (-i)^{l} (2l+1) F_{l}(|k|, |q|) P_{l}(\cos \epsilon) ,$$

$$F_{l}(|k|, |q|) = \frac{i^{l}}{2} \int_{-1}^{1} d\cos \epsilon F(|k|, |q|, \cos \epsilon) P_{l}(\cos \epsilon) ,$$
(4.4)

where  $P_l(\cos \epsilon)$  is the *l*-th Legendre polynomial and  $F_l$  is the *l*-th multiple of the perturbed DF. In this case however, a residual dependence on the azimuthal angle between  $\vec{q}$  and  $\vec{k}$ ,  $\psi$ , is still present (as caused by the first order collision terms). In [68] the authors argue that an averaging over  $\psi$  in the collision terms has no effect on the expressions for the collision integrals, and they perform such average. The argument is based on the fact that the LHS of (1.8) is not affected by such averaging. Also, from a phenomenological viewpoint, the only observable is the integrated effect of the perturbation, further strengthening the claim. Therefore, in what follows, we perform such average as well. The moment decomposition in the LHS of the Boltzmann equation is well known, and the reader can consult [74] for the expressions for massive neutrinos in the collisionless case on both typical gauge choices.

In order to calculate the moment expansions of the collision integral, we make use of the following property: given a collision term with the form

$$\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial \tau}\right)_{k}^{(1)}(\vec{k},\vec{q},\tau) = \int d\cos\theta d|q'|\mathcal{K}(|q|,|q'|,\cos\theta,\tau)F(\vec{k},\vec{q},\tau) , \qquad (4.5)$$

the ( $\psi$  averaged) *l*-th multipole can be written as:

$$\frac{i^l}{2} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\psi}{2\pi} \int_{-1}^1 d\cos\epsilon P_l(\cos\epsilon) \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial \tau}\right)_k^{(1)} = \int d|q'|\mathcal{K}_l(|q|, |q'|, \tau)F_l(|k|, |q'|, \tau) , \qquad (4.6)$$

with

$$\mathcal{K}_l(|q|, |q'|, \tau) \equiv \int_{-1}^1 d\cos\theta \mathcal{K}(|q|, |q'|, \cos\theta, \tau) P_l(\cos\theta) .$$
(4.7)

However, our expressions for the collision integrals are expressed in terms of Mandelstam variables and energies instead of angles and momenta. Our kernels are also expressed in terms of these variables. We can solve both problems by recasting the integration in Mandelstam variables in the definition of the kernel moments. So, for a collision integral of the form

$$\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial \tau}\right)_{k}^{(1)}(\vec{k},\vec{q},\tau) = \int ds dE_{l} \mathcal{K}(E_{q},E_{l},s,\tau) F(\vec{k},\vec{l},\tau)$$
(4.8)

the property (4.6) would be modified as follows:

$$\frac{i^l}{2} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\psi}{2\pi} \int_{-1}^1 d\cos\epsilon P_l(\cos\epsilon) \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial \tau}\right)_k^{(1)} = \int dE_l \mathcal{K}_l(E_q, E_l, \tau) F_l(|k|, |l|, \tau) , \qquad (4.9)$$

with

$$\mathcal{K}_l(E_q, E_l, \tau) \equiv \int ds \mathcal{K}(E_q, E_l, s, \tau) P_l(\cos \theta(s)) .$$
(4.10)

Then, putting together the results of sections A.1, A.2 and A.3 we arrive at the following moment expansion, in Synchronous gauge:

$$\begin{split} \dot{F}_{0}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &= -\frac{qk}{E_{q}}F_{1}(k, E_{q}, \tau) + \frac{\dot{h}}{6}\frac{\partial f_{0}}{\partial \ln q} \\ &- G_{0}aF_{0}(k, E_{q}, \tau)\Gamma(E_{q}, \tau) + G_{0}a\int dE_{l}F_{0}(k, E_{l}, \tau)\mathcal{K}_{0}^{(1)}(E_{q}, E_{l}, \tau) \\ \dot{F}_{1}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &= \frac{qk}{3E_{q}}F_{0}(k, E_{q}, \tau) - \frac{2qk}{3E_{q}}F_{2}(k, E_{q}, \tau) \\ &- G_{0}aF_{1}(k, E_{q}, \tau)\Gamma(E_{q}, \tau) + G_{0}a\int dE_{l}F_{1}(k, E_{l}, \tau)\mathcal{K}_{1}^{(1)}(E_{q}, E_{l}, \tau) \\ \dot{F}_{2}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &= \frac{qk}{5E_{q}}\Big[2F_{1}(k, E_{q}, \tau) - 3F_{3}(k, E_{q}, \tau)\Big] - \frac{\partial f_{0}}{\partial \ln q}\Big[\frac{1}{15}\dot{h} + \frac{2}{5}\dot{\eta}\Big] \\ &- G_{0}aF_{2}(k, E_{q}, \tau)\Gamma(E_{q}, \tau) + G_{0}a\int dE_{l}F_{2}(k, E_{l}, \tau)\mathcal{K}_{2}^{(1)}(E_{q}, E_{l}, \tau) \\ \dot{F}_{l}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &= \frac{qk}{(2l+1)E_{q}}\Big[lF_{(l-1)}(k, E_{q}, \tau) - (l+1)F_{(l+1)}(k, E_{q}, \tau)\Big] \\ &- G_{0}aF_{l}(k, E_{q}, \tau)\Gamma(E_{q}, \tau) + G_{0}a\int dE_{l}F_{l}(k, E_{l}, \tau)\mathcal{K}_{l}^{(1)}(E_{q}, E_{l}, \tau) \quad , \quad l \geq 3 \end{split}$$

with the various kernel moments defined as:

$$\Gamma(E_q, \tau) = \int dE_l f_0(E_l) \kappa^{(0)}(E_q, E_l) , \qquad (4.12)$$

$$\mathcal{K}_{l}^{(1)}(E_{q}, E_{l}, \tau) = -\chi_{l}(E_{q}, E_{l})f_{0}(E_{q}) + 2\frac{1}{E_{q}q}K_{l}(E_{q}, E_{l}, \tau) , \qquad (4.13)$$

with  $\kappa^{(0)}$  defined as (4.2), and  $K_l$ ,  $\chi_l$  the Legendre transforms of the K,  $\chi$  kernel functions defined as in (4.10), and where the *l*-th moment of the perturbed DF  $F_l$  is defined as in

(4.4), and we have chosen to express the momentum dependence in terms of energy for consistency. In order to solve this hierarchy, the kernel functions for the interaction model must be specified.

#### 5 Relaxation Time Approximation

Even if the evolution of the background DF  $f_0$  may seem complicated due to the collisions in play, its effect may be accounted for in a much simpler way depending on the particularities of the interaction. Concretely, if the rate of particle interactions is much higher than the rate of expansion of the universe, measured roughly by H, the Hubble rate, we may assume that the shape of the distribution function is one in equilibrium. That is to say, a DF that obeys

$$\left(\frac{\partial f_0^{eq}(E_q,t)}{\partial t}\right)_{coll} = 0 , \qquad (5.1)$$

such as Maxwell-Boltzmann, Fermi-Dirac or Bose-Einstein distributions, depending on the particle model used. It is possible to construct a substitute collision operator for  $f_0$  that reconstructs the expected behavior for small departures from thermal equilibrium:

$$\left(\frac{\partial f_0}{\partial t}\right)_{coll} \approx \frac{f_0(E_q, t) - f_0^{eq}(E_q, t)}{\tau(E_q)} .$$
(5.2)

This is know as the *relaxation time approximation* of the collision operator. The relaxation time  $\tau$  is the timescale in which the system is expected to relax to equilibrium. This parameter can in principle have a q dependence and is commonly defined as [81]<sup>2</sup>:

$$\tau(E_q) \approx \langle \sigma v \rangle^{-1} = -\frac{f_0(E_q, t)}{\mathcal{D}_2[f_0]} \approx -\frac{f_0^{eq}(E_q, t)}{\mathcal{D}_2[f_0^{eq}]} , \qquad (5.3)$$

which involves the integral of the kernel  $\chi$ , evaluated in the thermal equilibrium background DF. It is straighforward to evaluate these integrals, as they only involve known functions. We have performed these numerically for the interaction models posed in 3.3, and the results can be seen in figure 1 (we refer to appendix D for more details).

For all of these models, we follow [66] and assume that the abundance of WDM and its primordial distribution function are already set deep into the radiation dominated epoch and the effects of self-interactions in these initial conditions can be effectively decoupled from the evolution of perturbations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In the first equality we approximate the *relaxation time* (the timescale for the system to relax towards equilibrium) by the *collision time* (the mean time between collisions). While in the cases considered in section 3.3 it can be considered as a good approximation, cases where many collisions produce small changes in momenta (such as long range interactions) require additional care (see [82] for a discussion).



**Figure 1**: Relaxation times for three different interaction models: Constant Amplitude (left), Massive Scalar (center) and Vector Field (right), calculated for a Maxwell-Boltzmann background DF for different temperatures. The definitions on the interaction constants for the models considered (with interaction Lagrangians defined in 3.3) can be found in (3.14) for the constant amplitude model, in (3.26) for the massive scalar model and in (3.26) for the massive vector field.

#### 5.1 Application to Self-Interaction Decoupling

In order to evaluate whether or not a thermal  $f_0$  can be assumed, for a given particle physics model for the interaction, one may look at the ensemble averages of the interaction rate  $\Gamma(E_q) = \tau^{-1}(E_q)$ . This value is to be compared to H at this point: if  $\Gamma \gg H$ , the system is effectively in thermal equilibrium and adopts an equilibrium background distribution function  $f_0$ .

This is equivalent to the traditional approach used to determine if a species has decoupled from the rest of the cosmic plasma in the standard sector (see for example [69]). In other words, a given interaction is considered to cease being relevant if the interaction rate per particle  $\Gamma \sim \langle \tau^{-1} \rangle_{th}$  (see appendix D) is overtaken by the Hubble expansion rate, which in the radiation dominated era is  $H \sim T^2/m_{pl}$  where  $m_{pl}$  is the Planck mass. So, in summary, a thermal background DF can be assumed if at some point during the evolution of the perturbations, the self-interactions were a dominant phenomenon in the sense  $\Gamma > H$ .

We can see how this interaction rate evolves along with the temperature of the plasma in fig. 2, using the models of section 3.3. We work here on the assumption that the self-interaction decouples (this is to say,  $\Gamma > H$ ) while the particle itself is still relativistic. At the moment the self-interaction decouples its distribution function remains "frozen-out": the function itself remains unchanged and the evolution is just given by the redshift in physical momenta  $p \propto a$ . If decoupled while relativistic but well after the initial production of these particles, the distribution is frozen with a form  $f_0 \propto e^{-p_{\text{dec}}/T_{\text{dec}}}$  and the redshift in momenta can be reinterpreted as a temperature evolution of the form  $T \propto a^{-1}$ .

Depending on the coupling strength, it is possible that the self-interaction decouples while the particle is non relativistic. This opens the possibility of a species that undergoes chemical and kinetic decoupling from the plasma while still relativistic, but remains in



Figure 2: Evolution of interaction rate per particle and Hubble expansion rate (in dashed line) for three different interaction models: Constant Amplitude, Massive Scalar and (massive) Vector Field, with interaction Lagrangians defined in section 3.3 and interaction constants defined in (3.14), (3.19) and (3.26) respectively, and calculated for a Maxwell-Boltzmann background DF. Several interaction strengths are evaluated for each model: both the ones relevant for a relativistic decoupling/recoupling as well as interaction strengths satisfying Bullet Cluster constraints (see [46]). The calculations are performed for a DM particle mass of 10 keV, and the vertical line marks the relativistic-nonrelativistic transition temperature.

equilibrium (with itself) until a later stage. After the decoupling of the self-interactions, the background distribution would be frozen out on a Maxwell form  $f_0 \propto e^{-p_{\rm dec}^2/(2mT_{\rm dec})}$  and the temperature is interpreted to evolve as  $T \propto a^{-2}$ , while preserving the number density at chemical decoupling.

We can see in fig. 2 that the assumption of relativistic decoupling of the self-interaction does not necessarily hold for some interaction constants (e.g.  $C_V \sim 10^8 G_f$ ). In that case, the self-interactions should decouple while non-relativistic, if at all, and they alter the distribution function which in turn renders the method we used to obtain fig. 2 (described in (D.11)) inapplicable, as it assumes  $f_0 \propto e^{-E/T}$ . In particular, couplings  $C_V \sim 10^8 G_f$  in the vector field case were shown in [46] to correspond to cross sections in the range  $\sigma/m \sim 0.1-1 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g}$ , which are usually considered to alleviate various problems in N-body simulations on self-interacting CDM, and are strongly constrained by observations<sup>3</sup> [45].

#### 5.2 An Approximate Form for the Collision Integrals

The full form of the Boltzmann hierarchy for these species (4.11) can be reduced by making use of the relaxation time approximation. The most straightforward way to do this is by simply replacing expression (5.2) into the collision term and calculating the new hierarchies, through

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Interestingly, those cross sections may be large enough to spoil the assumption that the DF corresponds to particles that decouple being relativistic, as used in previous applications of SI-WDM such as [66]. An interaction constant that large may cause the particle to remain in thermal equilibrium well into a non-relativistic regime.

expression  $D_2[f_0]$  (3.6). In [66] such an approach is taken in a simplified way: instead of the full (energy dependent) relaxation time  $\tau_{rel}$ , its thermal average is used (see appendix D):

$$C[F] \approx -a \frac{F(\vec{q}, \vec{k}, \tau)}{\langle \tau \rangle_{th}} .$$
(5.4)

This simple approach however leads to an important conceptual error: this approximation (and to a certain extent (5.2) as well) qualitatively simply "erase" the perturbations to the DF  $F(\vec{q}, \vec{k}, \tau)$  [83]. This violates conservation of particle, momentum and energy densities, resulting in a poor approximation to the full collision term in the case of perturbations. In [66] it is noted that this can be avoided by setting the  $C_{l=0,1}[f] = 0$ , and these conservation laws are recovered, thus arriving to a Boltzmann hierarchy of the form:

$$\begin{split} \dot{F}_{0}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &\simeq -\frac{qk}{E_{q}}F_{1}(k, E_{q}, \tau) + \frac{\dot{h}}{6}\frac{\partial f_{0}}{\partial \ln q} \\ \dot{F}_{1}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &\simeq \frac{qk}{3E_{q}}F_{0}(k, E_{q}, \tau) - \frac{2qk}{3E_{q}}F_{2}(k, E_{q}, \tau) \\ \dot{F}_{2}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &\simeq \frac{qk}{5E_{q}}\Big[2F_{1}(k, E_{q}, \tau) - 3F_{3}(k, E_{q}, \tau)\Big] - \frac{\partial f_{0}}{\partial \ln q}\bigg[\frac{1}{15}\dot{h} + \frac{2}{5}\dot{\eta}\bigg] - a\frac{F_{2}(k, E_{q}, \tau)}{\langle \tau \rangle_{th}} \\ \dot{F}_{l}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &\simeq \frac{qk}{(2l+1)E_{q}}\Big[lF_{(l-1)}(k, E_{q}, \tau) - (l+1)F_{(l+1)}(k, E_{q}, \tau)\Big] - a\frac{F_{l}(k, E_{q}, \tau)}{\langle \tau \rangle_{th}} \quad , \quad l \ge 3 \; . \end{split}$$

$$(5.5)$$

This relaxation time approximation [66, 69, 84] has the advantage of localizing the equations in momenta, which results in more efficient numerical integration by eliminating all coupling between different momentum bins and allowing for sparse evaluation.

As an illustration of the effects of self-interactions in the matter power spectrum, we provide in fig. 3 specific examples for the case of a massive scalar field-mediator (3.18), under the relaxation time approximation (5.5). We have used an extended version of CLASS 2.7.2 [65, 78] where we include our results for SI-WDM models with particle masses in the  $\sim$  keV range.

In order to compare the results for standard CDM, WDM and the SI-WDM model, both WDM and SI-WDM components were assumed to have a relativistic Fermi-Dirac equilibrium distribution function  $f_0$  with a given temperature  $T_{dec}$  (i.e. a DF that corresponds to relativistically decoupled thermal relics), and their abundances were adjusted to match that of CDM in the best fit data from Planck 2018 [85]. It is important to notice that the assumption that the background DF is given at all times by the relativistic Fermi-Dirac distribution may not apply if the self-interaction is sufficiently large. For instance, for some interaction strengths that are favored by SIDM N-body simulations for CDM [45], it is necessary to consider non-relativistic self-interaction decoupling.

In fig. 3 we recover the results of [66] for the case of m = 1 keV, but for different coupling strengths. This is because of a missing scale factor in their calculation of the relaxation time,

see [69]. As shown here for the first time, for the masses considered, those couplings actually correspond to non-relativistic self-interaction decoupling. In [67] similar results are obtained, but using a fluid approximation leading to spurious oscillations at high enough k (see [69, 78] for a discussion).

In the power spectra shown in fig. 3 it can be seen that for the smaller interactions, in which the assumption of relativistic self-interaction decoupling is fulfilled, the results are practically indistinguishable from standard WDM. It is only for the cases of higher coupling constants (where the relativistic decoupling assumption is no longer valid) that certain features appear: both the modification in the transfer functions observed in [66] and acoustic oscillations at higher k reminiscent of fluid approximations (see [52, 78]). Such results are explicitly shown in dashed or dot-dashed lines in fig. 3, for given self-interaction strengths either for the case of m = 1 keV and m = 10 keV.<sup>4</sup>.

For the case of  $m \sim$  few keV as of typical WDM models under the thermal decoupling assumption [34], it can be seen that our SI-WDM power spectrums do not exhibit the steep trend at large k typical of those standard WDM scenarios. This less abrupt suppression of power at typical (comoving) wave numbers of  $k \sim 10$  h/Mpc (i.e. short scales relevant for sub-halo structures), can be better visualized in the transfer function of fig. 3 (bottom pannel). Such an effect should point to a better agreement with small-scale structure constraints for the lower end of the (thermal relic) keV particle-mass range. All in all, a more general behaviour of the suppression in the power spectrum (relevant for sub-structure number counts), together with the self-interacting nature of the  $\sim$  keV DM candidates (relevant to the inner shape of DM halos), could bring the SI-WDM paradigm into an appealing alternative to the CDM paradigm.

Before closing, we point out that the simplified approach to the hierarchies given here, can be generalized slightly by using the *separable ansatz* instead. Namely, assuming that the "temperature perturbation"  $\mathcal{F}_l(E_q, k, \tau)$  is independent of momentum, that is

$$F_l(k, E_q, \tau) \approx -\frac{1}{4} \frac{d\ln f_0}{d\ln q} f_0(E_q, \tau) \mathcal{F}_l(k, \tau) .$$
(5.6)

Then, the l-th collision term can be reduced to:

$$C_l[f] = -aF_l(k, E_q, \tau)(\Gamma_{\rm rel}(E_q, \tau) - \Gamma_{\rm exch}(E_q, \tau)) , \qquad (5.7)$$

with:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In the case of non relativistic self-interaction decoupling, the power spectrum damping is expected to shift to higher k as the distribution function becomes "colder". A detailed analysis of this effect in terms of realistic cosmological effects on small-scales are the subject of future analysis [86].



**Figure 3**: Power Spectrum (*top panel*) and Transfer Functions with respect to standard WDM (*bottom panels*) for a massive scalar SI-WDM model under the relaxation time approximation (5.5) for two values of the DM particle mass: 1 and 10 keV. Also plotted are the power spectra of CDM and of a 1 and 10 keV WDM model. Notice all the calculations assume relativistic interaction decoupling, however dashed and dashed-dotted lines refer to coupling strengths which do not fulfill this hypothesis and should undergo non relativistic self-interaction decoupling. These results have been taken from [86] with permission from the authors.

$$\Gamma_{\rm rel}(E_q,\tau) = -D_2[f_0]/f_0 = \tau^{-1}(E_q,\tau)$$
  

$$\Gamma_{\rm exch,l}(E_q,\tau) = G_0 \int dE_l \left( \chi_l(E_q,E_l)f_0(E_q) - 2\frac{1}{E_q q} K_l(E_q,E_l,\tau) \right) \frac{df_0(l)/d\ln l}{df_0(q)/d\ln q} .$$
(5.8)

While this is a significant simplification to the collision term, as proposed in [69], further simplifications can be done by performing a momentum average

$$\left\langle \Gamma_{\rm rel} - \Gamma_{\rm exch,l} \right\rangle_{\rm avg} \equiv \frac{\int dq q^3 f_0(q) (\Gamma_{\rm rel} - \Gamma_{\rm exch,l})}{\int dq q^3 f_0(q)} \equiv \alpha_l \left\langle \tau^{-1} \right\rangle_{avg} \,. \tag{5.9}$$

Under this approximation the Boltzmann hierarchy reduces  $to^5$ :

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This form holds under the assumption that conservation laws for number density, momentum and energy are fulfilled. It has been explicitly checked in [69] for the case of massless particles under massive scalar mediators, but it remains to be checked in the more general cases.

$$\begin{split} \dot{F}_{0}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &\simeq -\frac{qk}{E_{q}}F_{1}(k, E_{q}, \tau) + \frac{\dot{h}}{6}\frac{\partial f_{0}}{\partial \ln q} \\ \dot{F}_{1}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &\simeq \frac{qk}{3E_{q}}F_{0}(k, E_{q}, \tau) - \frac{2qk}{3E_{q}}F_{2}(k, E_{q}, \tau) \\ \dot{F}_{2}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &\simeq \frac{qk}{5E_{q}}\Big[2F_{1}(k, E_{q}, \tau) - 3F_{3}(k, E_{q}, \tau)\Big] - \frac{\partial f_{0}}{\partial \ln q} \left[\frac{1}{15}\dot{h} + \frac{2}{5}\dot{\eta}\right] - a\frac{\alpha_{2}F_{2}(k, E_{q}, \tau)}{\langle \tau \rangle_{avg}} \\ \dot{F}_{l}(k, E_{q}, \tau) &\simeq \frac{qk}{(2l+1)E_{q}}\Big[lF_{(l-1)}(k, E_{q}, \tau) - (l+1)F_{(l+1)}(k, E_{q}, \tau)\Big] - a\frac{\alpha_{l}F_{l}(k, E_{q}, \tau)}{\langle \tau \rangle_{avg}} \quad , \quad l \ge 3 \; , \end{split}$$

$$(5.10)$$

provided  $C_{l=0,1=0}$ . This approximation can be further reduced to the form (5.5) by assuming  $\alpha_{l\geq 2} = 1$ . If it results on a better overall approximation than (5.5), remains to be explored in future works.

#### 6 Summary and Outlook

Throughout this work, we aimed to fill a gap in the description and treatment of linear theory of scalar perturbations in cosmology by including the case of a self-interacting warm dark matter component. Motivated by the possible impact of these self-interactions in large and small structure formation scales, we provide an accurate treatment of collisions in the early universe, extending previous works on the subject while maintaining a phenomenological approach that allows us to retain certain model independence on the particular interaction Lagrangian. By extending the treatment in [68–70] for active neutrinos, we calculated the first and zero order collision terms and provided a general framework in order to include these collision terms in the coupled Einstein-Boltzmann system. This was done with the objective of accurately evaluating the effect of WDM self-interactions on the linear power spectrum and the CMB anisotropies.

In section 2 we provide a short summary about the assumptions used in this framework, as well as the general form (2.4) for the interaction amplitude that was used. It is shown there that this form can **accurately** describe several models of massive mediator interactions between sterile neutrinos, though not limited to those cases, and including for Majoron-like scalar mediators between right handed neutrinos. The main calculations are given in section 3.1 and 3.2 where we show the results for the first and zero order collision terms respectively in the SI-WDM scenario. Also, we provide in section 3.3 some examples for a handful of specific interaction models, along with the corresponding coefficients for the collision terms.

A detailed treatment on how to include these collision terms in a Boltzmann hierarchy is shown in section 4, and several possible simplifications in order to treat the evolution of the background and perturbed distributions based on the relaxation time approximation are shown in section 5. In this last section we discuss the effects of self-interactions in the matter power spectrum for ~ keV DM thermal relics, by providing an specific example for the case of massive scalar field-mediators. Besides acoustic oscillations arising at large k, it is shown a less abrupt suppression of power (relative to standard WDM) for typical comoving wave numbers of  $k \sim 10$  h/Mpc, relevant for small-scale structure constraints.

While developed with the intent of being used in the calculation of cosmological perturbations in the case of SI-WDM, the forms of the collision terms themselves are quite general and they can be used also in several other applications, for example in the case of (massive) active neutrino cosmology, as noticed in section 3.3. The implementation of this formalism in a CMB Boltzmann solver developed to explore the effects of the SI-WDM framework in cosmology, has been partially used in section 5 through an explicit example (as explained above). A detailed exploration for other field-mediators, interaction strengths, as well as other quantitative small-scale structure effects are left for a future work [86]. In this direction, further exploration of possible approximation schemes or efficient computation methods is key in order to successfully implement the hierarchies (4.11) in a practical way. Moreover, the phenomenological model in (2.4) for the interaction amplitude can be generalized by including other types of interaction Lagrangians, such as light mediators or more complex models accurately. For light mediators, in appendix C, we extend the calculation of the DM-DM collision term. This calculation is a necessary step to further generalize the equations to include models where other collision terms involving light mediators are relevant. In order to explore this kind of WDM interactions, further modeling it is required, since in general the population of light mediators cannot be neglected, and a consistent generalization should also model the evolution of their distribution function and collision terms. Also, it should be possible to extend this formalism to include the effects of Bose enhancement or Pauli blocking by generalizing the collision kernels, as was argued in [68].

#### Acknowledgments

We thank G. V. Vereshchagin for a critical reading of this work, and N. E. Mavromatos for useful comments on an earlier version of the manuscript. We also thank C. Scóccola for discussions. CRA has been supported by CONICET, Secretary of Science and Technology of FCAG and UNLP. DNL has been supported by CONICET, ANPCyT and UBA.

#### References

- L. Bergström, Nonbaryonic dark matter: Observational evidence and detection methods, Rept. Prog. Phys. 63 (2000) 793 [hep-ph/0002126].
- [2] C. Munoz, Dark matter detection in the light of recent experimental results, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A19 (2004) 3093 [hep-ph/0309346].
- G. Bertone, D. Hooper and J. Silk, Particle dark matter: Evidence, candidates and constraints, Phys. Rept. 405 (2005) 279 [hep-ph/0404175].
- [4] G. Bertone and T. Tait, A new era in the search for dark matter, Nature 562 (2018).
- [5] S. S. McGaugh, A tale of two paradigms: the mutual incommensurability of ΛCDM and MOND, Can. J. Phys. 93 (2015) 250 [1404.7525].
- [6] P. Bull et al., Beyond ΛCDM: Problems, solutions, and the road ahead, Phys. Dark Univ. 12 (2016) 56 [1512.05356].
- [7] M. Milgrom, MOND vs. dark matter in light of historical parallels, 2019, 1910.04368.
- [8] A. S. Szalay and G. Marx, Neutrino rest mass from cosmology, Astron. Astrophys. 49 (1976) 437.
- [9] S. S. Gershtein and Ya. B. Zeldovich, Rest Mass of Muonic Neutrino and Cosmology, JETP Lett. 4 (1966) 120.
- [10] J. R. Primack and M. A. K. Gross, Hot dark matter in cosmology, astro-ph/0007165.
- [11] P. Hut and S. D. M. White, Can a Neutrino Dominated Universe be Rejected?, Nature 310 (1984) 637.
- [12] N. A. Bahcall, J. P. Ostriker, S. Perlmutter and P. J. Steinhardt, The Cosmic triangle: Assessing the state of the universe, Science 284 (1999) 1481 [astro-ph/9906463].
- J. A. Peacock, Cosmological Physics. Cambridge University Press, 1998, 10.1017/CBO9780511804533.
- [14] J. L. Feng, Dark Matter Candidates from Particle Physics and Methods of Detection, Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys. 48 (2010) 495 [1003.0904].
- [15] M. M. Ivanov, M. Simonović and M. Zaldarriaga, Cosmological parameters and neutrino masses from the final planck and full-shape boss data, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 083504.
- [16] T. Tröster et al., Cosmology from large-scale structure: Constraining ΛCDM with BOSS, Astron. Astrophys. 633 (2020) L10 [1909.11006].
- [17] G. d'Amico, J. Gleyzes, N. Kokron, K. Markovic, L. Senatore, P. Zhang et al., The cosmological analysis of the SDSS/BOSS data from the Effective Field Theory of Large-Scale Structure, Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics 2020 (2020) 005 [1909.05271].
- [18] T. Colas, G. D'Amico, L. Senatore, P. Zhang and F. Beutler, Efficient Cosmological Analysis of the SDSS/BOSS data from the Effective Field Theory of Large-Scale Structure, arXiv e-prints (2019) arXiv:1909.07951 [1909.07951].
- [19] M. Vogelsberger, S. Genel, V. Springel, P. Torrey, D. Sijacki, D. Xu et al., Introducing the Illustris Project: Simulating the coevolution of dark and visible matter in the Universe, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 444 (2014) 1518 [1405.2921].

- [20] R. A. Crain, J. Schaye, R. G. Bower, M. Furlong, M. Schaller, T. Theuns et al., The EAGLE simulations of galaxy formation: calibration of subgrid physics and model variations, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 450 (2015) 1937 [1501.01311].
- [21] J. S. Bullock and M. Boylan-Kolchin, Small-Scale Challenges to the ΛCDM Paradigm, Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys. 55 (2017) 343 [1707.04256].
- [22] B. F. Griffen, A. P. Ji, G. A. Dooley, F. A. Gómez, M. Vogelsberger, B. W. O'Shea et al., The caterpillar project: A large suite of milky way sized halos, The Astrophysical Journal 818 (2016) 10.
- [23] W. Janesh, K. L. Rhode, J. J. Salzer, S. Janowiecki, E. A. K. Adams, M. P. Haynes et al., Five gas-rich ultrafaint dwarf galaxy candidates discovered in wiyn imaging of alfalfa sources, The Astronomical Journal 157 (2019) 183.
- [24] DES collaboration, Eight Ultra-faint Galaxy Candidates Discovered in Year Two of the Dark Energy Survey, Astrophys. J. 813 (2015) 109 [1508.03622].
- [25] J. F. Navarro, C. S. Frenk and S. D. M. White, The Structure of cold dark matter halos, Astrophys. J. 462 (1996) 563 [astro-ph/9508025].
- [26] J. Diemand, M. Zemp, B. Moore, J. Stadel and M. Carollo, Cusps in cold dark matter haloes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 364 (2005) 665 [astro-ph/0504215].
- [27] M. K. R. Joung, R. Cen and G. Bryan, Galaxy Size Problem at z=3: Simulated Galaxies Are Too Small, Astrophys. J. 692 (2009) L1 [0805.3150].
- [28] G. Battaglia, A. Helmi, E. Tolstoy, M. Irwin, V. Hill and P. Jablonka, The kinematic status and mass content of the Sculptor dwarf spheroidal galaxy, Astrophys. J. 681 (2008) L13 [0802.4220].
- [29] A. Klypin, J. Holtzman, J. Primack and E. Regos, Structure formation with cold plus hot dark matter, Astrophys. J. 416 (1993) 1 [astro-ph/9305011].
- [30] A. D. Dolgov, Neutrinos in cosmology, Phys. Rept. **370** (2002) 333 [hep-ph/0202122].
- [31] P. Bode, J. P. Ostriker and N. Turok, Halo formation in warm dark matter models, Astrophys. J. 556 (2001) 93 [astro-ph/0010389].
- [32] J. R. Bond, G. Efstathiou and J. Silk, Massive Neutrinos and the Large Scale Structure of the Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 45 (1980) 1980.
- [33] M. R. Lovell, V. Eke, C. S. Frenk, L. Gao, A. Jenkins, T. Theuns et al., The haloes of bright satellite galaxies in a warm dark matter universe, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 420 (2012) 2318–2324.
- [34] M. R. Lovell, C. S. Frenk, V. R. Eke, A. Jenkins, L. Gao and T. Theuns, The properties of warm dark matter haloes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 439 (2014) 300 [1308.1399].
- [35] C. Argüelles, A. Krut, J. Rueda and R. Ruffini, Novel constraints on fermionic dark matter from galactic observables i: The milky way, Physics of the Dark Universe 21 (2018) 82–89.
- [36] A. V. Macciò, S. Paduroiu, D. Anderhalden, A. Schneider and B. Moore, Cores in warm dark matter haloes: a catch 22 problem, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 424 (2012) 1105–1112.

- [37] S. Shao, L. Gao, T. Theuns and C. S. Frenk, The phase-space density of fermionic dark matter haloes, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 430 (2013) 2346–2357.
- [38] A. Boyarsky, O. Ruchayskiy and D. Iakubovskyi, A lower bound on the mass of dark matter particles, JCAP 2009 (2009) 005 [0808.3902].
- [39] A. Fitts, M. Boylan-Kolchin, B. Bozek, J. S. Bullock, A. Graus, V. Robles et al., Dwarf galaxies in cdm, wdm, and sidm: disentangling baryons and dark matter physics, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 490 (2019) 962–977.
- [40] A. Boyarsky, M. Drewes, T. Lasserre, S. Mertens and O. Ruchayskiy, Sterile Neutrino Dark Matter, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 104 (2019) 1 [1807.07938].
- [41] C. R. Argüelles, A. Krut, J. Rueda and R. Ruffini, Novel constraints on fermionic dark matter from galactic observables ii: galaxy scaling relations, Physics of the Dark Universe 24 (2019) 100278.
- [42] C. R. Argüelles, M. I. Diaz, A. Krut and R. Yunis, On the formation and stability of fermionic dark matter halos in cosmology, In preparation.
- [43] M. Drewes et al., A White Paper on keV Sterile Neutrino Dark Matter, JCAP 1701 (2017) 025 [1602.04816].
- [44] A. Boyarsky, M. Drewes, T. Lasserre, S. Mertens and O. Ruchayskiy, Sterile neutrino dark matter, Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics 104 (2019) 1–45.
- [45] S. Tulin and H.-B. Yu, Dark Matter Self-interactions and Small Scale Structure, Phys. Rept. 730 (2018) 1 [1705.02358].
- [46] C. R. Argüelles, N. E. Mavromatos, J. A. Rueda and R. Ruffini, The role of self-interacting right-handed neutrinos in galactic structure, JCAP 1604 (2016) 038 [1502.00136].
- [47] A. Burkert, The Structure and Evolution of Weakly Self-interacting Cold Dark Matter Halos, Astrophys. J. Letters 534 (2000) L143 [astro-ph/0002409].
- [48] J. Zavala, M. Vogelsberger and M. G. Walker, Constraining self-interacting dark matter with the milky way's dwarf spheroidals, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society: Letters 431 (2013) L20–L24.
- [49] O. D. Elbert, J. S. Bullock, S. Garrison-Kimmel, M. Rocha, J. Oñorbe and A. H. G. Peter, Core formation in dwarf haloes with self-interacting dark matter: no fine-tuning necessary, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 453 (2015) 29 [1412.1477].
- [50] S. W. Randall, M. Markevitch, D. Clowe, A. H. Gonzalez and M. Bradac, Constraints on the Self-Interaction Cross-Section of Dark Matter from Numerical Simulations of the Merging Galaxy Cluster 1E 0657-56, Astrophys. J. 679 (2008) 1173 [0704.0261].
- [51] O. D. Elbert, J. S. Bullock, M. Kaplinghat, S. Garrison-Kimmel, A. S. Graus and M. Rocha, A Testable Conspiracy: Simulating Baryonic Effects on Self-interacting Dark Matter Halos, Astrophys. J. 853 (2018) 109 [1609.08626].
- [52] F.-Y. Cyr-Racine, K. Sigurdson, J. Zavala, T. Bringmann, M. Vogelsberger and C. Pfrommer, ETHOS—an effective theory of structure formation: From dark particle physics to the matter distribution of the Universe, Phys. Rev. D93 (2016) 123527 [1512.05344].

- [53] T. Bringmann, H. T. Ihle, J. Kersten and P. Walia, Suppressing structure formation at dwarf galaxy scales and below: late kinetic decoupling as a compelling alternative to warm dark matter, Phys. Rev. D94 (2016) 103529 [1603.04884].
- [54] T. Binder, L. Covi, A. Kamada, H. Murayama, T. Takahashi and N. Yoshida, Matter Power Spectrum in Hidden Neutrino Interacting Dark Matter Models: A Closer Look at the Collision Term, JCAP 1611 (2016) 043 [1602.07624].
- [55] T. Bringmann and S. Hofmann, Thermal decoupling of WIMPs from first principles, JCAP 0704 (2007) 016 [hep-ph/0612238].
- [56] M. Vogelsberger, J. Zavala, F.-Y. Cyr-Racine, C. Pfrommer, T. Bringmann and K. Sigurdson, ETHOS - an effective theory of structure formation: dark matter physics as a possible explanation of the small-scale CDM problems, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 460 (2016) 1399 [1512.05349].
- [57] C. R. Argüelles, N. E. Mavromatos, J. A. Rueda and R. Ruffini, The role of self-interacting right-handed neutrinos in galactic structure, JCAP 1604 (2016) 038 [1502.00136].
- [58] R. Yunis, C. R. Argüelles, N. E. Mavromatos, A. Moliné, A. Krut, J. A. Rueda et al., New constraints on sterile neutrino dark matter from the Galactic Center, 1810.05756.
- [59] L. Johns and G. M. Fuller, Self-interacting sterile neutrino dark matter: the heavy-mediator case, Phys. Rev. D100 (2019) 023533 [1903.08296].
- [60] C.-P. Ma and E. Bertschinger, Cosmological Perturbation Theory in the Synchronous and Conformal Newtonian Gauges, Astrophysical Journal 455 (1995) 7 [astro-ph/9506072].
- [61] H. J. de Vega and N. G. Sanchez, Cosmological evolution of warm dark matter fluctuations. I. Efficient computational framework with Volterra integral equations, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 043516 [1111.0290].
- [62] H. J. de Vega and N. G. Sanchez, Cosmological evolution of warm dark matter fluctuations. II. Solution from small to large scales and keV sterile neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 043517 [1111.0300].
- [63] U. Seljak and M. Zaldarriaga, A line of sight approach to cosmic microwave background anisotropies, Astrophys. J. 469 (1996) 437 [astro-ph/9603033].
- [64] A. Lewis, A. Challinor and A. Lasenby, Efficient computation of CMB anisotropies in closed FRW models, Astrophys. J. 538 (2000) 473 [astro-ph/9911177].
- [65] J. Lesgourgues, The cosmic linear anisotropy solving system (class) i: Overview, 2011.
- [66] S. Hannestad and R. J. Scherrer, Selfinteracting warm dark matter, Phys. Rev. D62 (2000) 043522 [astro-ph/0003046].
- [67] F. Atrio-Barandela and S. Davidson, Comment on "Self-interacting warm dark matter", Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 088301 [astro-ph/0106228].
- [68] I. M. Oldengott, C. Rampf and Y. Y. Y. Wong, Boltzmann hierarchy for interacting neutrinos I: formalism, JCAP 1504 (2015) 016 [1409.1577].
- [69] I. M. Oldengott, T. Tram, C. Rampf and Y. Y. Y. Wong, Interacting neutrinos in cosmology: exact description and constraints, JCAP 1711 (2017) 027 [1706.02123].

- [70] C. D. Kreisch, F.-Y. Cyr-Racine and O. Doré, The Neutrino Puzzle: Anomalies, Interactions, and Cosmological Tensions, 1902.00534.
- [71] R. Scoccimarro, Lecture notes in cosmology, 2017.
- [72] S. Dodelson, Modern cosmology. 2003.
- [73] Y. Ali-Haïmoud, Boltzmann-Fokker-Planck formalism for dark-matter-baryon scattering, Phys. Rev. D99 (2019) 023523 [1811.09903].
- [74] E. Bertschinger, The Effects of Cold Dark Matter Decoupling and Pair Annihilation on Cosmological Perturbations, Phys. Rev. D74 (2006) 063509 [astro-ph/0607319].
- [75] E. W. Kolb and M. S. Turner, Book-Review the Early Universe, Sky and Telescope 80 (1990) 381.
- [76] P. Gondolo and G. Gelmini, Cosmic abundances of stable particles: Improved analysis, Nucl. Phys. B360 (1991) 145.
- [77] M. Cannoni, Relativistic  $\langle \sigma v_{rel} \rangle$  in the calculation of relics abundances: A closer look, Physical Review D 89 (2014).
- [78] J. Lesgourgues and T. Tram, The Cosmic Linear Anisotropy Solving System (CLASS) IV: efficient implementation of non-cold relics, Journal of Cosmology and Astro-Particle Physics 2011 (2011) 032 [1104.2935].
- [79] H. Mo, F. C. van den Bosch and S. White, Galaxy Formation and Evolution. 2010.
- [80] M. Srednicki, Quantum Field Theory. Cambridge University Press, 2007, 10.1017/CBO9780511813917.
- [81] G. V. Vereshchagin and A. G. Aksenov, *Relativistic Kinetic Theory: With Applications in Astrophysics and Cosmology*. Cambridge University Press, 2017, 10.1017/9781107261365.
- [82] S. Hofmann, D. J. Schwarz and H. Stöcker, Damping scales of neutralino cold dark matter, Physical Review D 64 (2001).
- [83] P. L. Krapivsky, S. Redner and E. Ben-Naim, A Kinetic View of Statistical Physics. Cambridge University Press, 2010, 10.1017/CBO9780511780516.
- [84] P. L. Bhatnagar, E. P. Gross and M. Krook, A Model for Collision Processes in Gases. 1. Small Amplitude Processes in Charged and Neutral One-Component Systems, Phys. Rev. 94 (1954) 511.
- [85] Planck Collaboration, N. Aghanim, Y. Akrami, M. Ashdown, J. Aumont, C. Baccigalupi et al., Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, arXiv e-prints (2018) arXiv:1807.06209 [1807.06209].
- [86] R. Yunis, C. Argüelles, C. Scoccola, D. López Nacir, G. Giordano and M. P. Piccirilli, "In preparation."
- [87] A. Sommerfeld, Über die beugung und bremsung der elektronen, Annalen der Physik 403 (1931) 257 [https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/andp.19314030302].
- [88] J. L. Feng, M. Kaplinghat and H.-B. Yu, Sommerfeld enhancements for thermal relic dark matter, Physical Review D 82 (2010).

- [89] M. A. Buen-Abad, G. Marques-Tavares and M. Schmaltz, Non-abelian dark matter and dark radiation, Physical Review D 92 (2015).
- [90] S. R. De Groot, W. A. Van Leeuwen and C. G. Van Weert, *Relativistic Kinetic Theory. Principles and Applications*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: North-holland (1980) 417p, 1980.

#### A First Order Collision Integral Terms

#### A.1 Calculation of $C_3[f]$

The term  $C_3$  can be expressed as:

$$\mathcal{C}_{3}[f] = -\frac{g_{i}^{3}}{2E_{q}(2\pi)^{5}} \int \frac{d^{3}l}{2E_{l}} \frac{d^{3}q'}{2E_{q'}} \frac{d^{3}l'}{2E_{l'}} |\mathcal{M}|^{2} \delta_{D}^{(4)}(\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{l} - \mathbf{q}' - \mathbf{l}') f_{0}(l) F(\vec{q}) , \qquad (A.1)$$

where  $g_i$  is the number of degrees of freedom of the particle and we have omitted the  $\vec{k}$ ,  $\tau$  dependencies on the distribution functions for compactness.

## **A.1.1** Solving for $\vec{l'}$ and $\beta$

The energy conservation Dirac delta  $\delta_D^{(4)}(\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{l} - \mathbf{q}' - \mathbf{l}')$  can be used to solve directly the l' integral using the definition of the invariant integration measure:

$$\int \frac{d^{3}l'}{2E_{l'}} \delta_{D}^{(4)}(\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{l} - \mathbf{q}' - \mathbf{l}') = \int d^{3}l' \theta(E_{l'}) \Theta(E_{q} + E_{l} - E_{q'}) \times \\ \times \delta_{D}^{(3)}(\vec{q} + \vec{l} - \vec{q'} - \vec{l'}) \delta_{D}(E_{l'}^{2} - (E_{q} + E_{l} - E_{q'})^{2})$$

$$= \Theta(E_{q} + E_{l} - E_{q'}) \delta_{D}(E_{\vec{q} + \vec{l} - \vec{q'}}^{2} - (E_{q} + E_{l} - E_{q'})^{2})$$

$$\equiv \Theta(E_{q} + E_{l} - E_{q'}) \delta(g(\vec{q}, \vec{l}, \vec{l'}))$$
(A.2)

where

$$g(\vec{q}, \vec{l}, \vec{l'}) \equiv -E_{\vec{q}+\vec{l}-\vec{q'}}^2 + (E_q + E_l - E_{q'})^2 , \qquad (A.3)$$

and  $\Theta$  is the Heaviside theta function. The following parametrization is used for the momentum 3-vectors:

$$\begin{cases} \vec{q} = q(0, 0, 1) \\ \vec{l} = l(0, \sin \alpha, \cos \alpha) \\ \vec{q'} = q'(\sin \beta \sin \theta, \cos \beta \sin \theta, \cos \theta) \end{cases},$$
(A.4)

So the argument of the Dirac delta in (A.3) can be expressed as:

$$g(\vec{q}, \vec{l}, \vec{l'}) = 2m^2 + 2E_q E_l - 2E_q E_{q'} - 2E_l E_{q'} + 2lq'(\cos\alpha\cos\theta + \sin\alpha\cos\beta\sin\theta) + 2qq'\cos\theta - 2ql\cos\alpha .$$
(A.5)

In this parametrization for the momentum 3-vectors, the integrals in the collision term can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{C}_{3}[f] = -\frac{F(\vec{q})g_{i}^{3}}{8(2\pi)^{4}E_{q}} \int dq' dl d(\cos\theta) d(\cos\alpha) \frac{l^{2}}{E_{l}} \frac{q'^{2}}{E_{q'}} f_{0}(l)\Theta(E_{q} + E_{l} - E_{q'})|\mathcal{M}|^{2} \\ \times \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\beta \delta_{D}(g(\vec{q}, \vec{l}, \vec{q'})) , \qquad (A.6)$$

where we have used  $d^3l = 2\pi l^2 dl d(\cos \alpha)$  and  $d^3q' = d\beta q'^2 dq' d(\cos \theta)$ , we have omitted the relevant integration bounds except on the  $\beta$  integral and assumed that the scattering amplitude  $|\mathcal{M}|$  does not depend on the azimuthal angle  $\beta$ . For this integral, we use the following identity of the Dirac delta:

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} d\beta \delta_D(g) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\beta \sum_i \delta_D(\beta - \beta_i) \left| \frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta} \right|_{\beta_i}^{-1} , \qquad (A.7)$$

that allows calculations of compositions between delta functionals and functions, where  $\beta_i$  are real roots of the real function  $g(..., \beta, ...)$ . For this integral, we have

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta} = -2lq' \sin \alpha \sin \theta \sin \beta$$

$$\cos \beta_i = (lq' \sin \alpha \sin \theta)^{-1} \left[ -m^2 + (E_q E_{q'} - qq' \cos \theta) + (E_l E_{q'} - lq' \cos \alpha \cos \theta) + (ql \cos \alpha - E_q E_l) \right].$$
(A.8)
(A.9)

From this, we can infer that two solutions  $\beta_i$  exist: one in the interval  $[0, \pi]$  and one in  $[\pi, 2\pi]$ . As the absolute value of the derivative of g is the same in both solutions, we can express the integral in (A.6) as

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} d\beta \delta_D(g) = 2 \int_{0}^{\pi} \left| \frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta} \right|_{\cos \beta_i}^{-1} \delta_D(\beta - \beta_i) = 2 \left| \frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta} \right|_{\cos \beta_i}^{-1} .$$
(A.10)

To ensure the physical condition that  $|\cos \beta_i| < 1$ , we add a Heaviside step function in  $\cos^2 \beta_i$ . The following property follows from (A.9) :

$$\Theta(1 - \cos^2 \beta_i) = \Theta\left(\left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta}\right|^2_{\cos \beta_i}\right) . \tag{A.11}$$

So, the  $C_3$  integral in (A.6) can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{C}_{3}[f] = -\frac{g_{i}^{3}F(\vec{q})}{4(2\pi)^{4}E_{q}} \int dld(\cos\alpha) \frac{l^{2}}{E_{l}}f_{0}(l) \int dq'd(\cos\theta) \frac{{q'}^{2}}{E_{q'}}\Theta(E_{q} + E_{l} - E_{q'})|\mathcal{M}|^{2} \times \Theta\left(\left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta}\right|^{2}_{\cos\beta_{i}}\right) \left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta}\right|^{-1}_{\cos\beta_{i}} .$$
(A.12)

Here, an important point in the calculation is reached. The remaining angular integrals are in  $\cos \theta$  and  $\cos \alpha$ , the angles between  $\vec{q}$  and  $\vec{q'}$ , and  $\vec{q}$  and  $\vec{l}$ , respectively. Now, without any knowledge of the background function  $f_0$ , up to three of the remaining four integrals could be solved. However to continue solving from here on we need to know about the scattering amplitude  $\mathcal{M}$ . We will go as far as possible without specifying this, and then we will assume an ansatz for a general form of  $\mathcal{M}$ . To continue we express the term  $|\partial g/\partial \beta|_{\cos \beta_i}$  in terms of the variables  $\{q, l, \theta, \alpha\}$  as follows:

$$\left. \frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta} \right|_{\cos \beta_i}^2 = a_3^{(\theta)} \cos^2 \theta + b_3^{(\theta)} \cos \theta + c_3^{(\theta)} , \qquad (A.13)$$

with coefficients:

$$\begin{cases} a_{3}^{(\theta)} = -4q'^{2} |\vec{l} + \vec{q}|^{2} \leq 0 \\ b_{3}^{(\theta)} = 8q'[q + l\cos\alpha][E_{q}E_{q'} + E_{l}E_{q'} - E_{q}E_{l} + ql\cos\alpha - m^{2}] \\ c_{3}^{(\theta)} = 4\left\{ l^{2}q'^{2}\sin^{2}\alpha - [E_{q}E_{q'} + E_{l}E_{q'} - E_{q}E_{l} + ql\cos\alpha - m^{2}]^{2} \right\} \end{cases}$$
(A.14)

Now, let us consider in greater detail the integration of the Heaviside theta function in equation (A.12). The argument of the function is a quadratic function in  $\cos \theta$  with a negative leading coefficient. Thus, the function will only be non zero if two real roots of the polynomial  $|\partial g/\partial \beta|^2_{\cos \beta_i}$  exist and it will be unity between them. So, the  $\Theta$  function can be translated into a border condition for the  $\cos \theta$  integral and an existence condition for the roots:

$$\int d(\cos\theta) \frac{|\mathcal{M}|^2}{\sqrt{a_3^{(\theta)}\cos^2\theta + b_3^{(\theta)}\cos\theta + c_3^{(\theta)}}} \Theta(a_3^{(\theta)}\cos^2\theta + b_3^{(\theta)}\cos\theta + c_3^{(\theta)}) = \Theta[(b_3^{(\theta)})^2 - 4a_3^{(\theta)}c_3^{(\theta)}] \int_{x_1}^{x_2} d(\cos\theta) \frac{|\mathcal{M}|^2}{\sqrt{a_3^{(\theta)}\cos^2\theta + b_3^{(\theta)}\cos\theta + c_3^{(\theta)}}},$$
(A.15)

with  $x_{1,2}$  the roots of the polynomial  $|\partial g/\partial \beta|^2_{\cos \beta_i}$ ,

$$x_{1,2} = \frac{b_3^{(\theta)}}{2|a_3^{(\theta)}|} \pm \sqrt{\left(\frac{b_3^{(\theta)}}{2|a_3^{(\theta)}|}\right)^2 + \frac{c_3^{(\theta)}}{|a_3^{(\theta)}|}} .$$
(A.16)

The argument of the Heaviside step function can be expressed as

$$(b_3^{(\theta)})^2 - 4a_3^{(\theta)}c_3^{(\theta)} = 64q'^2l^2\sin^2\alpha \left[E_qE_l(1-\cos y)\right] \\ \times \left\{-2E_{q'}^2 + 2(E_q+E_l)E_{q'} - \left[E_qE_l(1-\cos y) + \frac{m^2|\vec{l}+\vec{q}|^2}{E_qE_l(1-\cos y)}\right]\right\},$$
(A.17)

where

$$1 - \cos y = 1 + \frac{m^2}{E_q E_l} - \frac{ql}{E_q E_l} \cos \alpha .$$
 (A.18)

So this argument has 4 real roots in  $E_{q'}$ :  $\{-m, +m, R_1, R_2\}$ , with  $R_{1,2}$  given by

$$R_{1,2} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ E_q + E_l \pm |\vec{l} + \vec{q}| \sqrt{1 - \frac{2m^2}{E_q E_l (1 - \cos y)}} \right\}$$
(A.19)

The -m root can already be discarded as non physical. In order to to obtain the ordering for the rest of the roots, thus the non-zero intervals for the Heaviside step functions, we will next develop some alternative notation for the angular variables  $\theta$ ,  $\alpha$ , making use of Mandelstam variables.

#### A.1.2 Mandelstam variables for $C_3$

Mandesltam variables are Lorentz invariant quantities constructed with the relevant information on a two on two scattering process and are defined as:

$$\begin{cases} s \equiv (\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{l})^2 = (E_q + E_l)^2 - |\vec{q} + \vec{l}|^2 > 0 \\ t \equiv (\mathbf{q} - \mathbf{q}')^2 = (E_q - E_{q'})^2 - |\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|^2 < 0 \\ u \equiv (\mathbf{q} - \mathbf{l}')^2 = (E_q - E_{l'})^2 - |\vec{q} - \vec{l'}|^2 < 0 \end{cases}$$
(A.20)

We can make use of these quantities to advance in the remaining integrals for the collision integral  $C_3$ . First of all it is important to note that at this stage the derivations here and in [68] start to diverge. Some of the interesting properties of Mandelstam variables, which allows them to be of use in these calculations, are related to the center of momentum (CoM) frame that cannot be properly defined in the case of collisions between massless particles. Indeed, for the case of identical particles the Mandelstam variables can be calculated in the CoM frame making use of their Lorentz invariance:

$$\begin{cases} s = 4 \left( E_m^{CoM} \right)^2 \\ t = -2 \left( p_m^{CoM} \right)^2 \left( 1 - \cos \theta^{CoM} \right) \\ u = -2 \left( p_m^{CoM} \right)^2 \left( 1 + \cos \theta^{CoM} \right) \end{cases}$$
(A.21)

with  $E_m^{CoM}$ ,  $p_m^{CoM}$  the individual particle's energy and momentum magnitude measured in the CoM frame and  $\theta^{CoM}$  the scattering angle measured in the same frame. We can also express these variables in terms of the quantities we have used throughout the calculation of  $C_3$  as:

$$\begin{cases} s = 2E_q E_l \left( 1 + \frac{m^2}{E_q E_l} - \frac{ql}{E_q E_l} \cos \alpha \right) = 2E_q E_l (1 - \cos y) \\ t = -2E_q E_{q'} \left( 1 - \frac{m^2}{E_q E_{q'}} - \frac{qq'}{E_q E_{q'}} \cos \theta \right) , \end{cases}$$
(A.22)

where here, the quantities are measured in the "lab" frame, that is to say, the fixed frame in which we have measured  $\vec{q}$ . It would not be possible to change the whole integral to CoM quantities making use of the Lorentz invariant measure  $d^3p/2E_p$  because  $\vec{q}$  is fixed by the LHS of the Bolztmann equation. As a first use for these quantities, let us consider the roots  $R_{1,2}$  in the polynomial above. The roots can be immediately recast as a function of s:

$$R_{1,2} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ E_q + E_l \pm |\vec{l} + \vec{q}| \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{s}} \right\} .$$
(A.23)

From expression (A.21) we can see that  $s \ge 4m^2$ , thus these roots are always real. As for the ordering of the roots, it should be quite obvious that  $R_2 > m, R_1$ . It is also possible to prove that  $R_1 > m$ :

• Let us first define the total momentum 4 vector:  $p^{\mu} = (E_q + E_l, \vec{q} + \vec{l})$ . If we recall the form of a Lorentz transformation over a 4-vector,

$$\begin{cases} p^{0'} = \gamma (p^0 - \vec{\beta}.\vec{p}) \\ \vec{p'} = \gamma (-|\vec{\beta}|p^0 + \vec{p}) \end{cases}$$
(A.24)

we can infer that the form of  $R_1$  is very similar to the 0 component of this 4-vector, measured in a different coordinate system (Lorentz boosted). The magnitude of this boost from the "laboratory" system ( where we measure  $\vec{q}$ ,  $\vec{l}$  ) to this new system would be  $|\vec{\beta}| = \sqrt{1 - 4m^2/s}$  in the direction of the total 3-momentum  $\vec{q} + \vec{l}^{6}$ . The total energy  $p^0$  measured in this new frame of reference is

$$E'_{p^{\mu}} = 2\gamma R_1 \tag{A.25}$$

• On the other hand this energy, measured in the boosted system, can be also written as

$$E'_{p\mu} = m_{p\mu}\gamma' , \qquad (A.26)$$

where, this time,  $m_{p^{\mu}} = \sqrt{|p_{\mu}p^{\mu}|}$  and  $\gamma'$  is the Lorentz factor corresponding to the boost from the center of momentum system to this new system of reference.

• Equating these two expressions, one finds:

$$R_1 = \frac{\sqrt{|p_\mu p^\mu|}}{2} \frac{\gamma'}{\gamma} = \frac{\sqrt{s}}{2} \frac{2m\gamma'}{\sqrt{s}} = m\gamma' \ge m , \qquad (A.27)$$

because  $\gamma' \geq 1$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>This is a valid boost rapidity  $\beta$ , as using the properties of the Mandelstam variables one can find  $|\vec{\beta}| = p_m^{CoM} / E_m^{CoM}$ , with these quantities being the individual particle's energies and momenta measured in the center of momentum system.

So, going back to the expression for the last Heaviside theta (A.17) we can conclude that it is both non zero and physical only between  $R_1$  and  $R_2$ . We can then express the whole  $C_3$ integral as

$$\mathcal{C}_{3} = -\frac{g_{i}^{3}F(q)}{4(2\pi)^{4}E_{q}} \int dld(\cos\alpha) \frac{l^{2}}{E_{l}} f_{0}(l) \int_{q'(R_{1})}^{q'(R_{2})} dq' \frac{{q'}^{2}}{E_{q'}} \int_{x_{1}}^{x_{2}} d(\cos\theta) \frac{|\mathcal{M}|^{2}(s,t)}{\sqrt{\left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta}\right|^{2}_{\cos\beta_{i}}}}, \quad (A.28)$$

where  $q'(R) = \sqrt{R^2 - m^2}$  and we have made use of the fact that  $R_2 \ge E_q + E_l$  to eliminate  $\Theta(E_q + E_l - E_{q'})$ . The observant reader may have noticed that not only we omitted the dependency on the dynamical variables of  $|\mathcal{M}|^2$ , but we have also simply carried it outside of both integrations, on  $\vec{l'}$  and  $\beta$ . As the Mandelstam variables encompass all of the relevant invariant quantities involved on the kinematics of the process itself, it is reasonable to expect the scattering amplitude  $|\mathcal{M}|^2$  to only depend on (s, t, u). Now, we have solved first a three momentum integral in  $\vec{l'}$  imposing the momentum conservation Dirac delta. When calculating scattering amplitudes momentum conservation is explicitly imposed, so we can consider  $|\mathcal{M}|$  to already be evaluated at  $\vec{l'} = -\vec{q} - \vec{l} + \vec{q'}$ . Now for the  $\beta$  integral we have solved a Dirac delta in the function g defined in (A.3). If we express this function in Mandelstam variables we can see that it is simply  $\delta_D(s + t + u - 4m^2)$ . Thus, we can impose the condition  $s + t + u = 4m^2$  in  $|\mathcal{M}|$  and bring it out of the  $\beta$  integral. Note that this condition is trivially fulfilled given the definition of s, t and u.

#### A.1.3 Change of variables to $\{s, t, E_q, E_{q'}\}$

At this point, as mentioned above, further integration is not possible without specific knowledge of the scattering amplitude  $|\mathcal{M}|$ . However in terms of the variables we have used so far, namely  $\{\vec{q}, \vec{q'}, \vec{l}, \vec{l'}\}$ , the scattering amplitude may indeed have a very complicated and ultimately redundant expression. The Mandelstam variables contain all of the Lorentz invariant quantities that are involved in the expression of  $|\mathcal{M}|$  so that its only dependencies would be on (s, t), after having applied the identity  $s + t + u = 4m^2$ . In order to accommodate to a more general expression for the scattering amplitude, it is convenient to change variables in the integrals of  $C_3$  to obtain an expression involving (s, t). Indeed, we can make the following variable change:

$$\begin{cases} q' \to E_{q'} = \sqrt{{q'}^2 + m^2} \\ l \to E_l = \sqrt{l^2 + m^2} \\ \cos \alpha \to s = 2E_q E_l \left( 1 + \frac{m^2}{E_q E_l} - \frac{ql}{E_q E_l} \cos \alpha \right) \\ \cos \theta \to t = -2E_q E_{q'} \left( 1 - \frac{m^2}{E_q E_{q'}} - \frac{qq'}{E_q E_{q'}} \cos \theta \right) \end{cases}$$
(A.29)

The integration measures change accordingly as:

$$dq'd\cos\theta = \frac{E_{q'}}{2qq'^2}dE_{q'}dt \quad , \quad dld\cos\alpha = \frac{E_l}{2ql^2}dE_lds \; . \tag{A.30}$$

So that the whole integral can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{C}_{3} = -\frac{g_{i}^{3}F(q)}{16(2\pi)^{4}E_{q}q^{2}} \int dE_{l}dsf_{0}(E_{l}) \int_{R_{1}}^{R_{2}} dE_{q'} \int_{t(x_{1})\equiv t_{1}}^{t(x_{2})\equiv t_{2}} dt \frac{|\mathcal{M}|^{2}(s,t)}{\sqrt{\left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta}\right|_{\cos\beta_{i}}^{2}}}$$
(A.31)

Now, the expression (A.13) that states  $|\partial g/\partial \beta|^2_{\cos \beta_i}$  as a second degree polynomial in  $\cos \theta$  can be recast into a polynomial in t using (A.22):

$$\left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta}\right|_{\cos \beta_i}^2 = a_3^{(t)} t^2 + b_3^{(t)} t + c_3^{(t)} , \qquad (A.32)$$

with

$$\begin{cases} a_3^{(t)} = -\frac{1}{q^2} |\vec{l} + \vec{q}|^2 \\ b_3^{(t)} = -\frac{2}{q^2} \{ s(E_q - E_l)(E_q - E_{q'}) + 2q^2 l^2 \sin^2 \alpha \} \\ c_3^{(t)} = \frac{s}{q^2} (4m^2 - s)(E_q - E_{q'})^2 \end{cases}$$
(A.33)

The ingredients are all set to perform the t integral given an expression for  $|\mathcal{M}|$ . We then assume that this amplitude can be expressed as a second degree polynomial in (s, t), as in (2.4):

$$|\mathcal{M}|^2 \equiv m_{(2,0)}s^2 + m_{(1,1)}st + m_{(0,2)}t^2 + m_{(1,0)}s + m_{(0,1)}t + m_{(0,0)} .$$
 (A.34)

In order to explicitly perform the t integral, we group the coefficients in (A.34) in their respective powers of t:

$$|\mathcal{M}|^2 = A_t t^2 + B_t t + C_t . (A.35)$$

So the t integral becomes

$$\begin{split} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} dt \frac{|\mathcal{M}|^2}{\sqrt{a_3^{(t)}t^2 + b_3^{(t)}t + c_3^{(t)}}} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{-a_3^{(t)}}} \Biggl\{ A_t \int_{t_1}^{t_2} dt \frac{t^2}{\sqrt{(t-t_1)(t_2-t)}} + \\ &+ B_t \int_{t_1}^{t_2} dt \frac{t}{\sqrt{(t-t_1)(t_2-t)}} + C_t \int_{t_1}^{t_2} dt \frac{1}{\sqrt{(t-t_1)(t_2-t)}} \Biggr\} \,. \end{split}$$

$$(A.36)$$

Then, we use the following identity:

$$\int_{x_{-}}^{x_{+}} dx \frac{Ax^{2} + Bx + C}{\sqrt{(x_{+} - x)(x - x_{-})}} = \pi \left\{ A\left(\frac{3b^{2} - 4ac}{8a^{2}}\right) - B\left(\frac{b}{2a}\right) + C \right\} , \qquad (A.37)$$

where  $x_{(+,-)}$  are the solutions of  $ax^2 + bx + c = 0$  to arrive at

$$\mathcal{C}_{3} = -\frac{g_{i}^{3}F(q)}{16(2\pi)^{4}E_{q}q} \int dE_{l}ds f_{0}(E_{l}) \int_{R_{1}}^{R_{2}} dE_{q'} \frac{\pi}{|\vec{q}+\vec{l}|} \times \left[ A_{t} \left( \frac{3\left(b_{3}^{(t)}\right)^{2} - 4a_{3}^{(t)}c_{3}^{(t)}}{8\left(a_{3}^{(t)}\right)^{2}} \right) - B_{t} \left( \frac{b_{3}^{(t)}}{2a_{3}^{(t)}} \right) + C_{t} \right] .$$
(A.38)

The expressions in brackets have fairly complicated forms, but mostly polynomial in nature in  $(E_{q'}, E_q, E_l, s, m)$ . They can be factored into powers of  $E_{q'}$  in order to integrate them as:

$$\frac{3\left(b_{3}^{(t)}\right)^{2} - 4a_{3}^{(t)}c_{3}^{(t)}}{8\left(a_{3}^{(t)}\right)^{2}} = \frac{1}{8|\vec{l} + \vec{q}|^{4}} \left\{ E_{q'}^{2} \left[ 4s\left(2s\left(E_{l}^{2} - 4E_{l}E_{q} + E_{q}^{2} - 2m^{2}\right) + 4m^{2}(E_{l} + E_{q})^{2} + s^{2}\right) \right] \right. \\ \left. + E_{q'} \left[ 4s\left(4m^{2}s(3E_{l} - E_{q}) - 4m^{2}(3E_{l} - E_{q})(E_{l} + E_{q})^{2} + s^{2}(E_{q} - 3E_{l}) - 4E_{q}s(E_{q} - 2E_{l})(E_{l} + E_{q})\right) \right] \right] \\ \left. + \left[ 8s^{2}\left(m^{2}\left(3E_{l}^{2} + 12E_{l}E_{q} + 7E_{q}^{2}\right) + E_{q}^{2}(E_{l} + E_{q})^{2} + 6m^{4}\right) - 4s^{3}\left(3E_{l}E_{q} + 2E_{q}^{2} + 6m^{2}\right) - 16m^{2}s(E_{l} + E_{q})^{2} + s^{4}\right] \right\},$$

$$\left. \left. \left. \left( A.39 \right) \right] \right\}$$

$$\frac{b_3^{(t)}}{2a_3^{(t)}} = -\frac{1}{|\vec{l} + \vec{q}|^2} \left\{ E_{q'} \left[ s(E_q - E_l) \right] + \left[ -s \left( E_q(E_l + E_q) + 2m^2 \right) + 2m^2(E_l + E_q)^2 + s^2/2 \right] \right\}.$$
(A.40)

Once these are replaced into (A.37), we can perform the integral in  $E_{q'}$  using

$$\begin{cases} \int_{R_1}^{R_2} dE_{q'} = |\vec{q} + \vec{l}| \sqrt{1 - 4m^2/s} \\ \int_{R_1}^{R_2} dE_{q'} E_{q'} = |\vec{q} + \vec{l}| \sqrt{1 - 4m^2/s} (E_q + E_l)/2 \\ \int_{R_1}^{R_2} dE_{q'} E_{q'}^2 = |\vec{q} + \vec{l}| \sqrt{1 - 4m^2/s} [(E_q + E_l)^2/4 + (1 - 4m^2/s)|\vec{q} + \vec{l}|^2/12] \end{cases}$$
(A.41)

In this way we arrive at the following expression for the integral  $C_3$ :

$$\mathcal{C}_{3} = -\frac{g_{i}^{3}F(q)}{32(2\pi)^{3}E_{q}q} \int dE_{l}dsf_{0}(E_{l}) \left\{ \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^{2}}{s}} \left[ \frac{1}{3}A_{t}(s - 4m^{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{2}B_{t}(s - 4m^{2}) + C_{t} \right] \right\},$$
(A.42)

which can be recast into a more compact notation:

$$\mathcal{C}_{3} = -\frac{g_{i}^{3}F(\vec{q},\vec{k},\tau)}{32(2\pi)^{3}E_{q}q} \int dE_{l}ds f_{0}(E_{l},\tau)\chi(s) , \qquad (A.43)$$

where the function  $\chi$  is defined in (3.2), and we explicitly wrote the arguments of each function. Now, in this particular integral we could in fact formally integrate in s to obtain only a last integral over  $E_l$  of the background DF times an arbitrary function. We leave this as it is, because this form will become practical in calculating the next collision integral  $C_2$ . It becomes quite remarkable that the  $\chi$  function only depends on s (which in turn is only proportional to the CoM energy). This might suggest that a more straightforward method of obtaining these integrals may be available.

#### A.2 Calculation of $C_2[f]$

The calculations for the  $C_2$  term are identical to the ones developed in the previous section. The only difference here is that the roles of the background and perturbed DF are reversed. This can easily be seen from the definition of the term in (2.3). So, the final expression for the integral is

$$\mathcal{C}_2 = -\frac{g_i^3 f_0(E_q, \tau)}{32(2\pi)^3 E_q q} \int dE_l ds F(\vec{l}, \vec{k}, \tau) \chi(s) , \qquad (A.44)$$

where we have implicitly used  $\vec{l} \equiv \vec{l}(E_l, s)$ . This is true given the parametrization (A.4) for this vector, as its magnitude can be uniquely determined by  $E_l$  and its angle with the vector  $\vec{q}$  by the Mandelstam variable s. Therefore, unlike the previous case, the integral on s cannot be performed, since F also depends on it.

#### **A.3** Calculation of $C_1[f]$

The procedure for calculating  $C_1$  are very similar to the ones used to calculate  $C_3$ , but with some changes in the parametrization of the vectors involved. Following from the expression (2.3), the full integral can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{C}_{1}[f] = \frac{2g_{i}^{3}}{E_{q}(2\pi)^{5}} \int \frac{d^{3}l}{2E_{l}} \frac{d^{3}q'}{2E_{q'}} \frac{d^{3}l'}{2E_{l'}} |\mathcal{M}|^{2} \delta_{D}^{(4)}(\mathbf{q} + \mathbf{l} - \mathbf{q}' - \mathbf{l}') f_{0}(q') F(\vec{l}') .$$
(A.45)

## **A.3.1** Solving for $\vec{l}$ and $\beta$

Since the integrand does not depend on  $\vec{l}$ , we perform the first integral using the momentum conservation Dirac delta along this variable (instead of  $\vec{l'}$  as it was used before). After doing this, we use a new parametrization that reflects our choice of remaining variables:

$$\begin{cases} \vec{q} = q(0, 0, 1) \\ \vec{q'} = q'(0, \sin \theta, \cos \theta) \\ \vec{l'} = l'(\sin \beta \sin \alpha, \cos \beta \sin \alpha, \cos \alpha) \end{cases}$$
(A.46)

Following the steps on section A.1, we reach the following expression:

$$\mathcal{C}_{1}[f] = \frac{g_{i}^{3}}{4E_{q}(2\pi)^{4}} \int d(\cos\theta) d(\cos\alpha) dl' dq' \frac{{q'}^{2}}{E_{q'}} \frac{{l'}^{2}}{E_{l'}} f_{0}(l') F(\vec{q'}) \Theta(E_{q'} + E_{l'} - E_{q}) |\mathcal{M}|^{2} \times \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\beta \delta_{D}(g(\vec{q'}, \vec{l'}, \vec{q})) .$$
(A.47)

where this time the argument of the remaining Dirac delta g can be expressed as

$$g \equiv 2m^2 + (2E_{q'}E_{l'} - 2E_{l'}E_q - 2E_qE_{q'}) - 2q'l'(\sin\alpha\cos\beta\sin\theta + \cos\alpha\cos\theta) + 2ql'\cos\alpha + 2qq'\cos\theta .$$
(A.48)

Again, as the  $\beta$  integral only involves the Dirac delta we can rewrite this integral as in equations (A.7), (A.9) where in this case the functions involved are:

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta} = 2q'l' \sin \alpha \sin \beta \sin \theta , \qquad (A.49)$$

$$\cos \beta_i = (2q'l' \sin \theta \sin \alpha)^{-1} \Big[ 2m^2 + (2E_{q'}E_{l'} - 2E_{l'}E_q - 2E_qE_{q'}) - 2q'l' \cos \alpha \cos \theta + 2ql' \cos \alpha + 2qq' \cos \theta \Big] . \qquad (A.50)$$

We also add here a Heaviside theta function in  $\cos^2 \beta_i$  to ensure the condition  $|\cos \beta_i| < 1$ , but this time with the argument

$$\left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta}\right|_{\cos\beta_i}^2 = a_1^{(\alpha)}\cos^2\alpha + b_1^{(\alpha)}\cos\alpha + c_1^{(\alpha)} , \qquad (A.51)$$

with coefficients:

$$\begin{cases} a_1^{(\alpha)} = -4l'^2 |\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|^2 \\ b_1^{(\alpha)} = 8l'(q'\cos\theta - q) [m^2 + E_{q'}E_{l'} - E_qE_{l'} - E_{q'}E_q + qq'\cos\theta] \\ c_1^{(\alpha)} = 4 \left\{ q'^2 l'^2 \sin^2\theta - [m^2 + E_{q'}E_{l'} - E_qE_{l'} - E_{q'}E_q + qq'\cos\theta]^2 \right\}$$
(A.52)

Then the  $C_1$  integral results:

$$\mathcal{C}_{1}[f] = \frac{g_{i}^{3}}{4E_{q}(2\pi)^{4}} \int d(\cos\theta) dq' \frac{{q'}^{2}}{E_{q'}} F(\vec{q'}) \int dl' \frac{{l'}^{2}}{E_{l'}} f_{0}(l') \Theta(E_{q'} + E_{l'} - E_{q}) \\ \times \int d(\cos\alpha) \frac{|\mathcal{M}|^{2}}{\sqrt{a_{1}^{(\alpha)}\cos^{2}\alpha + b_{1}^{(\alpha)}\cos\alpha + c_{1}^{(\alpha)}}} \Theta(a_{1}^{(\alpha)}\cos^{2}\alpha + b_{1}^{(\alpha)}\cos\alpha + c_{1}^{(\alpha)}) .$$
(A.53)

The argument for the last theta function is a second degree polynomial, this time in  $\cos \alpha$ , with negative leading coefficient. As before, we solve this condition by imposing integration limits in the  $\cos \alpha$  integral and adding a new Heaviside theta function to ensure the existence of real roots for the polynomial (A.51). The discriminant of this polynomial becomes:

$$(b_1^{(\alpha)})^2 - 4a_1^{(\alpha)}c_1^{(\alpha)} = 64{l'}^2 {q'}^2 \sin^2\theta E_{q'}E_q(1-\cos z) \left\{ 2E_{l'}^2 + 2(E_{q'}-E_q)E_{l'} - \left[ E_q E_{q'}(1-\cos z) + \frac{m^2 |\vec{q}-\vec{q'}|^2}{E_q E_{q'}(1-\cos z)} \right] \right\},$$
(A.54)

where

$$1 - \cos z = 1 - \frac{m^2}{E_q E_{q'}} - \frac{qq'}{E_q E_{q'}} \cos \theta .$$
 (A.55)

The argument of the function again has four real roots in  $E_{l'}$ :  $\{-m, +m, R_1, R_2\}$  with  $R_{1,2}$  given by

$$R_{1,2} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ E_q - E_{q'} \pm |\vec{q} - \vec{q'}| \sqrt{1 + \frac{2m^2}{E_q E_{q'}(1 - \cos z)}} \right\} .$$
(A.56)

As before, we can discard any roots smaller than m as non physical. This time however, the ordering of these roots is different, as we will see below once we express these roots in terms of Mandelstam variables.

#### A.3.2 Mandelstam variables for $C_1$

So again, in order to assess the ordering of the roots  $R_{1,2}$ , as well as facilitating the integration of the collision kernels, we make use of the Mandelstam variables. The relevant variables for the integrals here are t and u. Their expressions are given in (A.20), however as we have changed the parametrization of the vectors themselves for this collision term, we need their expressions in terms of the momentum variables:

$$\begin{cases} t = (\mathbf{q} - \mathbf{q}')^2 = -2E_q E_{q'} + 2m^2 + 2qq' \cos \theta = -2E_q E_{q'}(1 - \cos z) \\ u = (\mathbf{q} - \mathbf{l}')^2 = -2E_q E_{l'} + 2m^2 + 2ql' \cos \alpha \end{cases}$$
(A.57)

Now, the roots of  $(b_1^{(\alpha)})^2 - 4a_1^{(\alpha)}c_1^{(\alpha)}$  in terms of these new variables is

$$R_{1,2} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ E_q - E_{q'} \pm |\vec{q} - \vec{q'}| \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{t}} \right\} .$$
 (A.58)

We can see that the argument in the square root is always positive, because t is always negative. To find out the order of the roots, we start by noticing the following three conditions:

- 1. Thanks to the fact that t is spacelike, we can infer that  $|E_q E_{q'}| < |\vec{q} q'|$ .
- 2. As *t* is negative,  $\sqrt{1 4m^2/t} > 1$ .
- 3. Thus  $R_1 \leq 0$  for any ordering of  $E_q$ ,  $E_{q'}$ .

Then, as  $R_1$  is negative, it is not a physical value for the energy integral. The proof that  $R_2 \ge m^2$ , hence  $R_2$  is physical, is slightly more complicated but possible, and is left to the reader. It is important to note in this case the ordering of these roots in order to understand the allowed ranges for  $E_{l'}$ . If we focus on the discriminant (A.54) we see that, as before, it has four roots but in this case the value is positive in the limit  $E_{l'} \to \infty$ . So, as the ordering of all four simple roots is in this case  $[(-m \le R_1) \text{ or } (R_1 \le -m)] \le m \le R_2$ , we can conclude that the only range of energies where both  $E_{l'} \ge m$  and the discriminant is positive is  $E_{l'} \ge R_2$ . So, for  $C_1$  we have boundary conditions for  $E_{l'}$  that are completely different from the ones for  $C_2$  and  $C_3$ . We can then use these limits in energy for the full integral but first we need to change variables to Mandelstam variables to perform them, these time using (t, u).

#### A.3.3 Change of variables to $\{t, u, E_{q'}, E_{l'}\}$

So, we now make the appropriate change of variables proceeding in a very similar way as in the case of  $C_3$ . In fact, the expression for the variables and differentials in  $E_{q'}$  and tare exactly the same as (A.29), (A.30). It is therefore immediate to see that the change of variables to  $E_{l'}$  and u is expressed as:

$$\begin{cases} q' \to E_{q'} = \sqrt{{q'}^2 + m^2} \\ l' \to E_{l'} = \sqrt{{l'}^2 + m^2} \\ \cos \alpha \to u = -2E_q E_{l'} \left( 1 - \frac{m^2}{E_q E_{l'}} - \frac{ql'}{E_q E_{l'}} \cos \alpha \right) \\ \cos \theta \to t = -2E_q E_{q'} \left( 1 - \frac{m^2}{E_q E_{q'}} - \frac{qq'}{E_q E_{q'}} \cos \theta \right) \end{cases}$$
(A.59)

with the corresponding integration measures given by

$$dq'd\cos\theta = \frac{E_{q'}}{2qq'^2}dE_{q'}du \quad , \quad dl'd\cos\alpha = \frac{E_{l'}}{2ql'^2}dE_{l'}du \; . \tag{A.60}$$

Now, we had expressed  $|\mathcal{M}|^2$  in terms of only (s, t) in (A.34). However, this time s is not a relevant variable of integration. We can use the relation  $s + t + u = 4m^2$  to obtain an analogous expression in variables (t, u):

$$|\mathcal{M}|^2 = A_u u^2 + B_u u + C_u , \qquad (A.61)$$

with the  $\{A_u, B_u, C_u\}$  coefficients only depending on t. So, the  $C_1$  collision integral can be expressed as:

$$\mathcal{C}_{1} = \frac{g_{i}^{3}}{8(2\pi)^{4}E_{q}q^{2}} \int dE_{q'}dt F(E_{q'},t) \int_{R_{2}}^{\infty} dE_{l'}f(E_{l'}) \int_{u(y_{1})\equiv u_{1}}^{u(y_{2})\equiv u_{2}} du \frac{|\mathcal{M}|^{2}(u,t)}{\sqrt{\left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta}\right|_{\cos\beta_{i}}^{2}}}, \quad (A.62)$$

with  $y_{1,2}$  the roots of  $|\partial g/\partial \beta|^2_{\cos \beta_i}$  in  $\cos \alpha$ . This expression depends on  $|\partial g/\partial \beta|^2_{\cos \beta_i}$ , this time given by (A.51), which can be recast into a polynomial in u as:

$$\left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \beta}\right|_{\cos\beta_i}^2 = a_1^{(u)}u^2 + b_1^{(u)}u + c_1^{(u)} , \qquad (A.63)$$

with coefficients:

$$\begin{cases} a_1^{(u)} = -|\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|^2/q^2 \\ b_1^{(u)} = -2[t(E_q + E_{q'})(E_q - E_{l'}) + 2q^2 {q'}^2 \sin^2 \theta]/q^2 \\ c_1^{(u)} = t(E_q - E_{l'})^2 (4m^2 - t)/q^2 \end{cases}$$
(A.64)

The integral in u can then be computed using the property (A.41), so that the full collision integral becomes

$$\mathcal{C}_{1} = \frac{g_{i}^{3}}{8(2\pi)^{4}E_{q}q} \int dE_{q'}dt F(E_{q'},t) \int_{R_{2}}^{\infty} dE_{l'}f_{0}(E_{l'}) \frac{\pi}{|\vec{q}-\vec{q'}|} \\ \times \left[ A_{u} \left( \frac{3\left(b_{1}^{(u)}\right)^{2} - 4a_{1}^{(u)}c_{1}^{(u)}}{8\left(a_{1}^{(u)}\right)^{2}} \right) - B_{u} \left(\frac{b_{1}^{(u)}}{2a_{1}^{(u)}}\right) + C_{u} \right]$$
(A.65)

The expressions for the coefficients accompanying  $\{A_u, B_u\}$  can be expressed in terms of powers of  $E_{l'}$ , in order to facilitate integration:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{3\left(b_{1}^{(u)}\right)^{2} - 4a_{1}^{(u)}c_{1}^{(u)}}{8\left(a_{1}^{(u)}\right)^{2}} &= \frac{1}{8|\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|^{4}} \left\{ E_{l'}^{2} \left[ 4t\left(3(E_{q} + E_{q'})^{2}t - ((E_{q} - E_{q'})^{2} - t)(-4m^{2} + t)\right) \right] \right. \\ &+ E_{l'} \left[ 4t(4(E_{q} - E_{q'})^{2}(E_{q} + 3E_{q'})m^{2} - 4(E_{q}(E_{q} - E_{q'})(E_{q} + 2E_{q'}) + (E_{q} + 3E_{q'})m^{2})t + (E_{q} + 3E_{q'})t^{2} \right] \right] \\ &+ \left[ \left( 48(E_{q} - E_{q'})^{4}m^{4} - 16(E_{q} - E_{q'})^{2}m^{2}(2E_{q}^{2} - 3E_{q}E_{q'} + 6m^{2})t + 8(E_{q}^{2}(E_{q} - E_{q'})^{2} + (7E_{q}^{2} - 12E_{q}E_{q'} + 3E_{q'}^{2})m^{2} + 6m^{4})t^{2} - 4(2E_{q}^{2} - 3E_{q}E_{q'} + 6m^{2})t^{3} + 3t^{4} \right] \right] \right\}, \end{aligned}$$
(A.66)

$$\frac{b_1^{(u)}}{2a_1^{(u)}} = \frac{-1}{|\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|^2} \left\{ E_{l'} \left[ t(E_q + E_{q'}) \right] + \left[ 2(E_q - E_{q'})^2 m^2 + 2E_q(-E_q + E_{q'})t - 4m^2 t + t^2 \right] \right\}.$$
(A.67)

Here the approach diverges greatly from the one we took for  $C_2$  and  $C_3$ . In the previous cases we managed to also perform the integration in energy, but here this cannot be done without knowing the background DF  $f_0$ . Since given  $f_0$ , the integration in  $E_{l'}$  can be performed, it is convenient to define

$$\langle f_0 \rangle_n (E_q, E_{q'}, t, \tau) = \int_{R_2}^{\infty} dE_{l'} f_0(E_{l'}, \tau) E_{l'}^n ,$$
 (A.68)

which is a function of  $(E_q, E_{q'}, t)$  only through  $R_2$ , and express the full collision integral in terms of these moments of  $f_0$ :

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{C}_{1} &= \frac{\pi}{(2\pi)^{4}E_{q}q} \int dE_{q'}dtF(E_{q'},t) \\ &\times \left\{ \frac{A_{u}}{8|\vec{q}-\vec{q'}|^{5}} \left\{ \langle f_{0} \rangle_{2} \left[ 4t \left( 3(E_{q}+E_{q'})^{2}t - ((E_{q}-E_{q'})^{2}-t)(-4m^{2}+t) \right) \right] \right. \\ &+ \langle f_{0} \rangle_{1} \left[ 4t(4(E_{q}-E_{q'})^{2}(E_{q}+3E_{q'})m^{2} \\ &- 4(E_{q}(E_{q}-E_{q'})(E_{q}+2E_{q'}) + (E_{q}+3E_{q'})m^{2})t + (E_{q}+3E_{q'})t^{2} \right) \right] \\ &+ \langle f_{0} \rangle_{0} \left[ (48(E_{q}-E_{q'})^{4}m^{4} - 16(E_{q}-E_{q'})^{2}m^{2}(2E_{q}^{2}-3E_{q}E_{q'}+6m^{2})t \\ &+ 8(E_{q}^{2}(E_{q}-E_{q'})^{2} + (7E_{q}^{2}-12E_{q}E_{q'}+3E_{q'}^{2})m^{2} + 6m^{4})t^{2} \\ &- 4(2E_{q}^{2}-3E_{q}E_{q'}+6m^{2})t^{3} + 3t^{4} \right] \right\} \\ &+ \frac{B_{u}}{2|\vec{q}-\vec{q'}|^{3}} \left\{ \langle f_{0} \rangle_{1} \left[ t(E_{q}+E_{q'}) \right] + \langle f_{0} \rangle_{0} \left[ 2(E_{q}-E_{q'})^{2}m^{2} + 2E_{q}(-E_{q}+E_{q'})t - 4m^{2}t + t^{2} \right] \right\} \\ &+ \frac{C_{u}}{|\vec{q}-\vec{q'}|} \left[ \langle f_{0} \rangle_{0} \right] \right\}. \end{split}$$
(A.69)

We can recast this expression in terms of a (fairly complex but mostly polynomial) integration kernel  $K(E_q, E_{q'}, t, \tau)$ .

$$C_1 = \frac{g_i^3}{16(2\pi)^3 E_q q} \int dE_{q'} dt F(E_{q'}, t) \times K(E_q, E_{q'}, t, \tau) \,. \tag{A.70}$$

This integration kernel is the most complex part of the collision term, mainly due to the explicit dependence of the integration kernel on time through the momenta of the background DF.

#### B The Zero Order Collision Term

In this appendix we provide details on the calculation of the zero-order collision integral. As shown in (2.2) this can be split into two parts:  $\mathcal{D}_1[f]$  and  $\mathcal{D}_2[f]$ . The treatment of the term  $\mathcal{D}_2[f]$  mimics exactly the one for  $\mathcal{C}_3[f]$  but with the simplification  $F(\vec{q}, \vec{k}, \tau) \to f_0(E_q)$ . Thus, it is immediate to see that this term can be expressed as in (3.6).

#### **B.1** Calculation of $\mathcal{D}_1[f]$

The term  $\mathcal{D}_1[f]$  holds some similarity to the term  $\mathcal{C}_1$ , as it involves the integration of both of the vectors  $\vec{q'}$ ,  $\vec{l'}$  on which the distribution functions are evaluated. The derivation for this term closely follows the one for the perturbed DF until equation (A.65). In this case, the result can be written as

$$\mathcal{D}_1[f] = \frac{g_i^3}{16E_q q(2\pi)^3} \int dt dE_{q'} f_0(E_{q'}) \int_{R_2}^{\infty} dE_{l'} \frac{f_0(E_{l'})}{|\vec{q} - \vec{q'}|} \left\{ A_u[...] + B_u[...] + C_u[...] \right\} , \quad (B.1)$$

where the terms accompanying the factors  $\{A_u, B_u, c_u\}$  are specified in equations (A.66), (A.67). Continuing the procedure as we did for  $C_1$  will require the moments for the background distribution function, which is exactly the quantity we are trying to obtain. Here instead of doing that, we will express this integral in such a way that it depends on the integral of a function times the background DF itself: we want to obtain a convenient expression for the integration kernel to be used in the equation for  $f_0$ . To do that, we will integrate in t, given that the background DF does not depend explicitly on this variable. A complication in this approach comes from the fact that a simple modification of the order of integrals will not work, as the boundary for the integral in  $E_{l'}$ ,  $R_2$ , depends explicitly on t. In order to circumvent this, let us first define the variable P

$$P = |\vec{q} - \vec{q'}| \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{t}} .$$
 (B.2)

We change variables from t to this new variable P in the integral:

$$\int_{t(\cos\theta=-1)}^{t(\cos\theta=1)} dt(...) = 2 \int_{|E_q-E_{q'}|+2m}^{E_q+E_{q'}} dP \frac{2Pt^2}{|4m^2(E_q-E_{q'})^2-t^2|}(...) .$$
(B.3)

Now, we rewrite the integration limits as a series of Heaviside theta functions

$$\int_{|E_q - E_{q'}| + 2m}^{E_q + E_{q'}} dP \int_{R_2}^{\infty} dE_{l'} = \int dP dE_{l'} \Theta(E_{l'} - R_2) \Theta(P - (|E_q - E_{q'}| + 2m)) \Theta(E_q + E_{q'} - P) .$$
(B.4)

Then, using the relations

$$\Theta(E_q + E_{q'} - P)\Theta(2E_{l'} - E_q + E_{q'} - P) = \Theta(E_{l'} - E_q)\Theta(E_q + E_{q'} - P) + \Theta(E_q - E_{l'})\Theta(2E_{l'} - E_q + E_{q'} - P) ,$$
(B.5)

$$\Theta(2E_{l'} - E_q + E_{q'} - P)\Theta(P - |E_q - E_{q'}| - 2m) =$$
  

$$\Theta(E_q - E_{q'})\Theta(2E_{l'} - E_q + E_{q'} - P)\Theta(P - E_q + E_{q'} - 2m)$$
(B.6)  

$$+\Theta(E_{q'} - E_q)\Theta(2E_{l'} - E_q + E_{q'} - P)\Theta(P - E_{q'} + E_{q'} - 2m) ,$$

it can be found out that the integration splits into four parts:

$$\int_{m}^{E_{q}} dE_{q'} \left[ \int_{E_{q}-E_{q'}+m}^{E_{q}} dE_{l'} \int_{E_{q}-E_{q'}+2m}^{2E_{l'}-E_{q}+E_{q'}} dP + \int_{E_{q}}^{\infty} dE_{l'} \int_{E_{q}-E_{q'}+2m}^{E_{q}+E_{q'}} dP \right] + \int_{E_{q}}^{\infty} dE_{q'} \left[ \int_{m}^{E_{q}} dE_{l'} \int_{E_{q'}-E_{q}+2m}^{2E_{l'}-E_{q}+E_{q'}} dP + \int_{E_{q}}^{\infty} dE_{l'} \int_{E_{q'}-E_{q}+2m}^{E_{q}+E_{q'}} dP \right].$$
(B.7)

Here, each of the four parts is first integrated in an angular variable and then in the energies. Using this procedure for the integral (B.1) the collision integral can be expressed as:

$$\mathcal{D}_1[f] = \frac{g_i^3}{16E_q q(2\pi)^3} \sum_{i=1}^4 \int_{\mathcal{I}_i} dE_{q'} dE_{l'} f_0(E_{q'}, \tau) f_0(E_{l'}, \tau) k_i(E_q, E_{q'}, E_{l'}, \tau) , \qquad (B.8)$$

where  $\mathcal{I}_i$  refers to the integration method in energies specified in (B.7) and defined in (3.8) and the kernel functions  $k_i$  are expressed as in (3.9).

There, we have labeled the kernels with i = 1, ..., 4 according to the integration regions  $\mathcal{I}_i$  in the order in which they appear in equation (B.7). We have chosen to return the integrals to their original angular variable t instead of P, as the integrands themselves are functions of t and can't be expressed neatly in the new variable and the integration measure is also a function of both P and t. The integrals labeled i = 2, 4 possess the original limits on t, as the integration scheme has not modified the bounds in P appearing in (B.3). The ones labeled i = 1, 3 are the (two) solutions of the equation  $P(t_{1,2}) = 2E_{l'} - E_q + E_{q'}$ . The integrands themselves are expressed in equation (3.10) on a similar way as in equation (A.69).

#### C The DM-DM collision term for a Massless Mediator

Here, we will give the form of the DM-DM collision term for the case of an actually massless mediator, out of the models considered in section 3.3 and the ansatz (2.4). In this case, we should start by noting that, as the mediator population is not Boltzmann suppressed, this is one of the three relevant collision terms in the full evolution of the system: not only the population and DF of the DM need to be tracked but also of the mediators (hereby called DR, Dark radiation) and the other two collision terms between the DR-DR and DR-DM. In this appendix we calculate only the DM-DM collision term.

We consider DM scattering of light or massless mediator particles under the Lagrangian (3.11). We start by considering the scattering amplitude for such a model in the massive DM particle case [80]

$$|\mathcal{M}|^2 = 6\mathfrak{g}^4 + 16m^4\mathfrak{g}^4\left(\frac{1}{s^2} + \frac{1}{t^2} + \frac{1}{u^2}\right) - \frac{4m^2\mathfrak{g}^4(s+t+u)^2}{stu} \ . \tag{C.1}$$

We can see from this expression clearly that in the limit  $m \to 0$  the amplitude reduces to (3.13). As  $p/m \leq 1$  (with p the typical momentum of the particles in the CoM frame) the other terms in the scattering amplitude become more relevant, and the massless DM approximation becomes invalid. As the particle becomes highly nonrelativistic  $p/m \ll 1$  the assumption of tree level diagrams being dominant breaks down as ladder diagrams become more relevant and other approaches are more well suited for the analysis, such as considering Sommerfeld Enhancement [87, 88]. As in appendix A we will start by calculating  $C_3$  first, then calculate  $C_1$  on a similar fashion and rely on the derivations in appendix B to relate these results to the ones for  $D_1$  and  $D_2$ .

#### C.1 Calculation of $C_3[f]$

For the  $C_3[f]$  term, the derivations in appendix A.1 remain the same until the specific form of the ansatz had been used in (A.38). For the sake of readability, we will split the scattering amplitude (C.1) into three parts: one containing only terms on s (constant on the t integration), and two others containing mixed  $\{s, t\}$  terms and  $\{s, u\}$  terms respectively

$$|\mathcal{M}|^{2} = \mathfrak{g}^{4} \left\{ \left[ 6 + \frac{16m^{4}}{s^{2}} \right] + \left[ \frac{16m^{4}}{t^{2}} + \frac{64m^{6}}{st(s-4m^{2})} \right] + \left[ \frac{16m^{4}}{u^{2}} + \frac{64m^{6}}{su(s-4m^{2})} \right] \right\}$$
(C.2)  
$$= |\mathcal{M}|^{2}_{\{s\}} + |\mathcal{M}|^{2}_{\{s,t\}} + |\mathcal{M}|^{2}_{\{s,u\}} .$$

The s term can be integrated directly using the result (A.42), while the other terms require special care. We start by the mixed  $\{s,t\}$  term: the integral can be performed directly

$$\frac{\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} dt \frac{\left|\mathcal{M}\right|_{\{s,t\}}^{2}}{\sqrt{a_{3}^{(t)}t^{2} + b_{3}^{(t)}t + c_{3}^{(t)}}} = \frac{8\pi m^{4}\mathfrak{g}^{4} \left(-4m^{2} \left(E_{l}^{2} + 2E_{l}E_{q} + 3E_{q}^{2} - 4E_{q}E_{q'} + 2E_{q'}^{2}\right) + 2s \left(E_{l}(E_{q} + E_{q'}) + E_{q}^{2} - E_{q}E_{q'} + 2m^{2}\right) - s^{2}\right)}{s \left(4m^{2} - s\right)\left|E_{q} - E_{q'}\right|^{3} \sqrt{\frac{s(s-4m^{2})}{E_{q}^{2} - m^{2}}}} \tag{C.3}$$

In the case of the  $\{s, u\}$  term integral, it is better to change variables in integral (A.31) from t to u. By making use of definition (A.32) and that  $s + t + u = 4m^2$  we can also perform the integral directly

$$\frac{\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} dt \frac{\left|\mathcal{M}\right|_{\{s,u\}}^{2}}{\sqrt{a_{3}^{(t)}t^{2} + b_{3}^{(t)}t + c_{3}^{(t)}}} = \frac{8\pi m^{4}\mathfrak{g}^{4} \left(-4m^{2} \left(3E_{l}^{2} + 2E_{l}(E_{q} - 2E_{q'}) + E_{q}^{2} + 2E_{q'}^{2}\right) + 2s \left(E_{l}^{2} + E_{l}(E_{q} - E_{q'}) + E_{q}E_{q'} + 2m^{2}\right) - s^{2}\right)}{s \left(4m^{2} - s\right)\left|E_{l} - E_{q'}\right|^{3} \sqrt{\frac{s(s-4m^{2})}{E_{q}^{2} - m^{2}}}} \tag{C.4}$$

After the t integral is done, as in (A.41) it is time to continue solving for the  $E_{q'}$  integral. In the case of the  $\{s,t\}$  term, it is convenient to change variables to  $\overline{E}_1 = E_{q'} - E_q$ . The  $E_{q'}$  integral for this term then becomes

$$\int_{R_{1}}^{R_{2}} dE_{q'} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} dt \frac{|\mathcal{M}|_{\{s,t\}}^{2}}{\sqrt{a_{3}^{(t)}t^{2} + b_{3}^{(t)}t + c_{3}^{(t)}}} = -\int_{\overline{R}_{1}}^{\overline{R}_{2}} d\overline{E}_{1} \frac{8\pi m^{4}q\mathfrak{g}^{4}}{\left(\overline{E}_{1}^{2}s\left(s-4m^{2}\right)\right)^{3/2}} \left\{-4m^{2}(E_{l}+E_{q})^{2} + 4E_{l}E_{q}s + 4m^{2}s - s^{2} + \overline{E}_{1}(2E_{l}s-2E_{q}s) - 8\overline{E}_{1}^{2}m^{2}\right\}$$
(C.5)

where the integration limits are

$$\overline{R}_{1,2} = \frac{1}{2} \left( E_l - E_q \pm \left| \vec{q} + \vec{l} \right| \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{s}} \right) , \qquad (C.6)$$

and it can be demonstrated that the lower limit  $\overline{R}_1$  is always negative and the upper limit  $\overline{R}_2$  always positive. Remarkably, the  $\{s, u\}$  term is identical upon the variable change  $\overline{E}_2 = E_{q'} - E_l$ .

The above integrals in the new variable  $\overline{E}$  exhibit divergences. A proper treatment of the divergences requires the understanding of the infrared physics of the specific model with the mediator fields. Here, we will write the divergent contributions as the following integral terms

$$\mathcal{I}_n = \int_{\overline{R}_1}^{\overline{R}_2} dE \frac{E^{3-n}}{|E|^3} . \tag{C.7}$$

A possible regularization is to consider that the mediator have a small mass and, following [68], to introduce a (physical) mass  $m_{\phi}$  for the mediator in the calculation of the vanishing denominator on the integrals. For a truly massless mediator case some effect, analogous to Debye shielding in plasma [52, 89], would be needed to limit the interaction range and provide an effective length scale that would act as a regulator. In view of the limited purposes of the present paper, here we leave the results in terms of the divergent integrals (C.7). In terms of these, the final  $C_3[f]$  collision term becomes

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{C}_{3} &= \frac{g_{i}^{3}\mathfrak{g}^{4}F(q)}{32(2\pi)^{3}E_{q}q} \int dE_{l}dsf_{0}(E_{l}) \Biggl\{ (6 + \frac{16m^{4}}{s^{2}})\sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^{2}}{s}} \\ &+ \frac{16\pi m^{4}q}{\left[s\left(s - 4m^{2}\right)\right]^{3/2}} \left[ \left(-4s\left(E_{l}E_{q} + m^{2}\right) + 4m^{2}(E_{l} + E_{q})^{2} + s^{2}\right)\mathcal{I}_{3} + 2s(E_{q} - E_{l})\mathcal{I}_{2} - 8m^{2}\mathcal{I}_{1} \right] \Biggr\} \\ &\equiv \frac{g_{i}^{3}\mathfrak{g}^{4}F(q)}{32(2\pi)^{3}E_{q}q} \int dE_{l}dsf_{0}(E_{l})\chi_{e} \ . \end{aligned}$$
(C.8)

We remark here that any Lorentz invariant regularization mechanism must fulfill the property  $\chi_e \equiv \chi_e(s)$ , as was outlined in appendix D.1 and [76].

#### C.2 Calculation of $C_1[f]$

For the  $C_1$  term we would have to perform a similar split in the scattering amplitude, however in this case the terms similar to (A.69) would be the ones with only t dependence, and we would have to calculate the  $\{s,t\}$  and the  $\{u,t\}$  terms. This split of (C.1) can be expressed as

$$|\mathcal{M}|^{2} = \mathfrak{g}^{4} \left\{ \left[ 6 + \frac{16m^{4}}{t^{2}} \right] + \left[ \frac{16m^{4}}{s^{2}} - \frac{64m^{6}}{st(4m^{2} - t)} \right] + \left[ \frac{16m^{4}}{u^{2}} - \frac{64m^{6}}{tu(4m^{2} - t)} \right] \right\}$$
(C.9)  
$$= |\mathcal{M}|^{2}_{\{t\}} + |\mathcal{M}|^{2}_{\{t,s\}} + |\mathcal{M}|^{2}_{\{t,u\}} .$$

Again we integrate directly the  $|\mathcal{M}|^2_{\{t,u\}}$  term, this time on u, to find the expression

$$\int_{u_{1}}^{u_{2}} du \frac{|\mathcal{M}|_{\{t,u\}}^{2}}{\sqrt{a_{1}^{(u)}u^{2} + b_{1}^{(u)}u + c_{1}^{(u)}}} = \frac{8\pi m^{4}q\mathfrak{g}^{4}}{\left(\overline{E}_{1}^{2}t\left(t - 4m^{2}\right)\right)^{3/2}} \left\{ \left(4m^{2}(E_{q} - E_{q'})^{2} + 4E_{q}E_{q'}t - 4m^{2}t + t^{2}\right) - 2\overline{E}_{1}t\left(E_{q} + E_{q'}\right) + 8\overline{E}_{1}^{2}m^{2} \right\},$$
(C.10)

where  $\overline{E}_1 = E_{l'} - E_q$ . For the term  $|\mathcal{M}|^2_{\{t,s\}}$  we change integration variables from u to s using (A.63) and  $s + t + u = 4m^2$  to obtain

$$\frac{\int_{u_{1}}^{u_{2}} du \frac{\left|\mathcal{M}\right|_{\{s,u\}}^{2}}{\sqrt{a_{1}^{(u)}u^{2} + b_{1}^{(u)}u + c_{1}^{(u)}}} = \frac{8\pi m^{4}q\mathfrak{g}^{4}}{\left(\overline{E}_{2}^{2}t\left(t - 4m^{2}\right)\right)^{3/2}} \left\{ \left(4m^{2}(E_{q} - E_{q'})^{2} + 4E_{q}E_{q'}t - 4m^{2}t + t^{2}\right) - 2\overline{E}_{2}t\left(E_{q} + E_{q'}\right) + 8\overline{E}_{2}^{2}m^{2} \right\},$$
(C.11)

where  $\overline{E}_2 = E_{l'} + E_{q'}$ . In this case we can arrive to similar expressions as in (C.8) when we account for the divergent  $\overline{E}_1$  integral in (C.10). For the case of the term (C.11) the integrals themselves are very similar, however as  $\overline{E}_2 = E_{q'} + E_{l'} > 2m$  there is no singularity in the energy integral and regularization is not needed. The final results for these integrals can be expressed as

$$\int_{R_{2}}^{\infty} dE_{l'} f(E_{l'}) \int_{u_{1}}^{u_{2}} du \frac{|\mathcal{M}|_{\{t,u\}}^{2} + |\mathcal{M}|_{\{t,s\}}^{2}}{\sqrt{a_{1}^{(u)}u^{2} + b_{1}^{(u)}u + c_{1}^{(u)}}} = \frac{8\pi m^{4}q\mathfrak{g}^{4}}{t\sqrt{t(t-4m^{2})^{3}}} \left\{ \left(-4m^{2}(E_{q}-E_{q'})^{2} - 4E_{q}E_{q'}t + 4m^{2}t - t^{2}\right)\mathcal{J}_{3} + 2(E_{q}+E_{q'})t\mathcal{J}_{2} - 8m^{2}\mathcal{J}_{1} \right\},$$
(C.12)

where the results are expressed in terms of the integrals

$$\mathcal{J}_n(E_q, E_{q'}, t, \tau) = \int_{-\overline{R}_3}^{\infty} dE \frac{f_0(E_q + E)E^{3-n}}{|E|^3} + \int_{\overline{R}_4}^{\infty} dE \frac{f_0(E - E_{q'})}{E^n} , \qquad (C.13)$$

and the integration limits are defined as

$$\overline{R}_{3,4} = \frac{1}{2} \left( E_q + E_{q'} \pm \left| \vec{q} - \vec{q'} \right| \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{t}} \right)$$
(C.14)

for the sum of all these integrals. Afterwards, we can express the various scattering functions as:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{C}_{1} &= \frac{g_{i}^{3}\mathfrak{g}^{4}}{8(2\pi)^{4}E_{q}q} \int dE_{q'}dtF(E_{q'},t) \\ &\left\{ \frac{8\pi m^{4}q}{t\sqrt{t\left(t-4m^{2}\right)^{3}}} \left[ \left(-4m^{2}(E_{q}-E_{q'})^{2}-4E_{q}E_{q'}t+4m^{2}t-t^{2}\right)\mathcal{J}_{3}+2(E_{q}+E_{q'})t\mathcal{J}_{2}-8m^{2}\mathcal{J}_{1} \right] \\ &+ \frac{\pi}{\left|\vec{q}-\vec{q'}\right|} \left\langle f_{0} \right\rangle \left(6+\frac{16m^{4}}{t^{2}}\right) \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(C.15)$$

## **D** Numerical Integration of $\mathcal{D}_2[f_0^{eq}]$

In this section, we will provide the numerical integration scheme used to calculate  $\tau$ . As was justified in 5, the expression for this quantity can be set in terms of the kernels introduced in 3.3:

$$\tau^{-1}(E_q) = \frac{g_i^3}{32(2\pi)^3 E_q |\vec{q}|} \int dE_l ds \chi(s) f_0(E_l)$$

As we are not considering Bose enhancement or Pauli blocking, we set the equilibrium DF as a relativistic Maxwell-Boltzmann distribution

$$f_0^{eq}(E_q, t) \equiv f^{MB}(E_q, T(t)) = e^{-E_q/T}$$
, (D.1)

and the function  $\chi(s)$  depends of the particular interaction model used. Now, in order to numerically integrate these equations, it is necessary to a dimensionalize this expression. We define:

$$\tilde{\tau} \equiv m\tau$$
 ,  $\epsilon_q \equiv E_q/m$  ,  $\tilde{s} \equiv s/m^2$  ,  $\tilde{T} = T/m$ . (D.2)

Then, the expression for  $\tilde{\tau}^{-1}$  is

$$\tilde{\tau}^{-1}(\epsilon_q) = \frac{g_i^3}{32(2\pi)^3 \epsilon_q \sqrt{\epsilon_q^2 - 1}} \int_1^\infty d\epsilon_l f^{MB}(\epsilon_l) \int_{2\epsilon_q \epsilon_l + 2 - 2\sqrt{\epsilon_q^2 - 1}\sqrt{\epsilon_l^2 - 1}}^{2\epsilon_q \epsilon_l + 2 + 2\sqrt{\epsilon_q^2 - 1}\sqrt{\epsilon_l^2 - 1}} d\tilde{s}\chi(\tilde{s}) .$$
(D.3)

For any given choice of the kernel function  $\chi(s)$ , this double integral can be readily calculated. We will now summarize the kernels for the models considered in 3.3:

Constant Amplitude : 
$$\chi_0(s) = C_0 \sqrt{1 - \frac{4}{s}}$$
,  $C_0 = 6\mathfrak{g}^4$ . (D.4)

Massive Scalar : 
$$\chi_m(s) = C_m \sqrt{1 - \frac{4}{s} \left(256 - 128s + 19s^2\right)}$$
,  $C_m = \frac{g^4}{6} \left(\frac{m}{m_\Phi}\right)^4$ . (D.5)  
Vector Field :  $\chi_V(s) = C_V \sqrt{1 - \frac{4}{c}} (74 - 29s)(1 - s^2)$ ,  $C_V = \frac{4}{s} \left(\frac{g_V m}{m_\Phi}\right)^4 \frac{1}{1 + s^4}$ .

Vector Field: 
$$\chi_V(s) = C_V \sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{s}(74 - 29s)(1 - s^2)}$$
,  $C_V = \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{3}{m_V}\right) \frac{1}{\cos^4 \theta'_W}$ .  
(D.6)

For these models, the results of numerical integration are summarized in fig. 1. In order to obtain a relevant value of the relaxation time and compare it to a cosmological timescale, it is usual to obtain a thermal average of  $\tau^{-1}$ . For any quantity g, a thermal average is defined as

$$\langle g \rangle_{th} = \frac{\int d^3 q \ g(\vec{q}) f^{eq}(E_q)}{\int d^3 q \ f^{eq}(E_q)} ,$$
 (D.7)

where  $f^{eq}$  is an equilibrium distribution function. In particular, for the inverse relaxation time, this thermal averaging can be reduced to the following expression, accounting for adimensionalization:

$$\left\langle \tilde{\tau}^{-1} \right\rangle_{th} = \frac{\int_1^\infty d\epsilon_q \epsilon_q \sqrt{\epsilon_q^2 - 1} f^{MB}(\epsilon_q) \tilde{\tau}^{-1}(\epsilon_q)}{\int_1^\infty d\epsilon_q \epsilon_q \sqrt{\epsilon_q^2 - 1} f^{MB}(\epsilon_q)} , \qquad (D.8)$$

where we have assumed the background DF is given by (D.1).

#### D.1 Parallelism with the Calculation of Abundances of Stable Species

Several similarities exist between the calculation of the thermal average of the relaxation time and the procedures in [76]. In that paper, the thermal average of the quantity  $\sigma v_{mol}$ , i.e. the cross section times the relative Møller velocity for elastic 4 fermion interaction, is calculated. This quantity differs from the relaxation time only in the normalization, and a parallelism between the original quantity  $\sigma v_{mol}(\Theta, s)$  and  $\chi(s)$  can be obtained.

The definition of  $\sigma v_{mol}$  from [90] can be given through the full Boltzmann equation:

$$(\partial_t + \mathbf{u}.\nabla)f = \frac{1}{2} \int d^3l d\Omega (f_{q'}f_{l'} - f_q f_l) \sigma v_{mol} , \qquad (D.9)$$

with  $f_i \equiv f(\vec{i})$ . If we eliminate the spatial dependency of the DF we can identify this equation as the Boltzmann equation for the background DF, we can further identify the terms  $\mathcal{D}_1$  and  $\mathcal{D}_2$ . By comparing it with the expression we had for  $\mathcal{D}_2$ , it can be found that

$$\frac{\chi(s)}{4} = \frac{2E_q E_l (2\pi)^3}{g_i^3} \int d\Omega \sigma v_{mol} = \frac{1}{4(2\pi)} \int d\cos\Theta_{cm} |\mathcal{M}|^2 \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{s}} , \qquad (D.10)$$

with  $\Theta_{cm}$  the scattering angle measured in the CoM system. This property, apart from relating  $\chi$  and  $\sigma$ , reproduces the feature that  $\sigma v_{mol} E_q E_l$  is a function of s only (see [76]). We can use the procedures outlined in the calculation of thermal averaged annihilation cross section to obtain an alternative expression for the thermal average of the relaxation time:

$$\left\langle \tau^{-1} \right\rangle_{th} = \frac{g_i^3}{32(2\pi)^2} N \int ds \chi(s) \sqrt{1 - \frac{4m^2}{s}} \sqrt{s} T K_1(\sqrt{s}/T) ,$$
 (D.11)

where T is the temperature of the background Maxwell-Boltzmann DF,  $K_n$  is the modified Bessel function of the second kind of order n and N is a normalization constant defined as

$$N^{-1} = \int dE_q q E_q f_0^{MB}(E_q) .$$
 (D.12)

This expression yields the same results as the one in (D.8), but it is much easier and faster to implement numerically.